
Everett City Council Preliminary Agenda

 6:30 p.m., Wednesday, September 3, 2025

City Council Chambers
Roll Call

Pledge Of Allegiance

Land Acknowledgment

Approval Of Minutes: August 27, 2025

Mayor ’s Comments

Public Comment

Council Comments

Administration Update

City Attorney 

CONSENT ITEMS:

(1) Adopt Resolution Authorizing Claims Against The City Of Everett In The Amount Of 
$1,339,361.83 For The Period Ending August 16, 2025, Through August 22, 2025.

RES_CLAIMS PAYABLE 08.22.25.PDF

(2) Authorize Staff To Apply For And If Awarded Authorize The Mayor To Sign All 
Necessary And Required Documents To Accept The Emergency Management Performance 
Grant In The Amount Of $53,150.

EMPG.PDF

(3) Authorize The Mayor To Sign Amendment 1 Of The Everett Station Operations And 
Maintenance Agreement Between Sound Transit And The City Of Everett (GA 0127-20).

EVERETT STATION OM-GA 0127-20 AMEND NO.1.PDF

(4) Authorize The Mayor To Sign Agreement For Indigent Defense Services (RALJ Public 
Defender), With Snohomish County Public Defenders Association.

INDIGENT DEFENSE APPEAL SERVICES.PDF

(5) Adopt A Resolution Declaring A 2017 Ford F550 With Altec AT40G Hybrid Electric 
Manlift Bucket J0161 Surplus And Authorize Its Sale At Public Auction.

RES_J0161 2017 FORD F550.PDF

PROPOSED ACTION ITEM:

(6) CB 2508-46 – 1st Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special Improvement 
Project Entitled “Riverpoint Outfalls Replacement” Fund 336, Program 049. (3rd & Final 
Reading 9/17/25)

CB 2508-46.PDF

(7) CB 2508-47 – 1st Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Approving The Appropriations Of The 
2025 Revised City Of Everett Budget And Amending Ordinance No. 4099-25. (3rd & Final 
Reading 9/17/25)

CB 2508-47.PDF

BRIEFING & PROPOSED ACTION ITEM:

ACTION ITEMS:

(8) Authorize The Mayor To Sign The Project Labor Agreement For The Port Gardner 
Storage Facility.

PGSF_PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENT.PDF

(9) Authorize The Mayor To Sign All Necessary Documents And Agreements With 
Snohomish County Regarding The Sex Offender Address And Residency Verification 
Program Services, Allowing The Everett Police Department To Accept And Utilize The 
Funds In The Amount Of $101,000.

2025-2026 RSO ILA_CITY OF EVERETT.PDF

(10) CB 2508-45 – 3rd & Final Reading – Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special 
Improvement Project Entitled “Municipal Court Access Control Installation Project ”, Fund 
342, Program 053 To Accumulate All Costs For The Project.

CB 2508-45.PDF

Executive Session

Adjourn

PARTICIPATION IN REMOTE COUNCIL MEETINGS

l Participate remotely via Zoom by registering to speak at everettwa.gov/speakerform. You 
must register no later than 30 minutes prior to the meeting. You may contact the Council 
office at 425.257.8703 or aely@everettwa.gov and identify the topic you wish to address. 

l Provide written public comments by email to Council@everettwa.gov or mail to 2930 
Wetmore Avenue, Suite 9A, Everett, WA 98201. Emailing comments 24 hours prior to the 
meeting will ensure your comment is distributed to councilmembers and appropriate staff.  

l Persons seeking to comment on non-agenda items may be asked to submit the comments 
in writing if the comment does not address an issue of broad public interest.

AGENDAS, BROADCAST AND RECORDINGS

l The Council agendas and meeting recordings can be found, in their entirety, at 
everettwa.gov/citycouncil. 

l Watch live meetings and recordings at YouTube.com/EverettCity.

CONTACT THE COUNCIL

If you do not wish to participate in the meeting, we provide these other methods of contacting your 
elected officials: Email the Council at Council@everettwa.gov or call the Council offices at 
425.257.8703.

The City of Everett does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the admission or access to, 
or treatment in, its programs or activities. Requests for assistance or accommodations can be 
arranged by contacting the Everett City Council Office at 425.257.8703. For additional information, 
please visit our website at https://www.everettwa.gov/3129/American-Disabilities-Act-ADA-and-
Title-.

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

https://www.everettwa.gov/Admin/AgendaCenter/Item/Edit/937?categoryID=10#


Everett City Council Preliminary Agenda

 6:30 p.m., Wednesday, September 3, 2025

City Council Chambers
Roll Call

Pledge Of Allegiance

Land Acknowledgment

Approval Of Minutes: August 27, 2025

Mayor ’s Comments

Public Comment

Council Comments

Administration Update

City Attorney 

CONSENT ITEMS:

(1) Adopt Resolution Authorizing Claims Against The City Of Everett In The Amount Of 
$1,339,361.83 For The Period Ending August 16, 2025, Through August 22, 2025.

RES_CLAIMS PAYABLE 08.22.25.PDF

(2) Authorize Staff To Apply For And If Awarded Authorize The Mayor To Sign All 
Necessary And Required Documents To Accept The Emergency Management Performance 
Grant In The Amount Of $53,150.

EMPG.PDF

(3) Authorize The Mayor To Sign Amendment 1 Of The Everett Station Operations And 
Maintenance Agreement Between Sound Transit And The City Of Everett (GA 0127-20).

EVERETT STATION OM-GA 0127-20 AMEND NO.1.PDF

(4) Authorize The Mayor To Sign Agreement For Indigent Defense Services (RALJ Public 
Defender), With Snohomish County Public Defenders Association.

INDIGENT DEFENSE APPEAL SERVICES.PDF

(5) Adopt A Resolution Declaring A 2017 Ford F550 With Altec AT40G Hybrid Electric 
Manlift Bucket J0161 Surplus And Authorize Its Sale At Public Auction.

RES_J0161 2017 FORD F550.PDF

PROPOSED ACTION ITEM:

(6) CB 2508-46 – 1st Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special Improvement 
Project Entitled “Riverpoint Outfalls Replacement” Fund 336, Program 049. (3rd & Final 
Reading 9/17/25)

CB 2508-46.PDF

(7) CB 2508-47 – 1st Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Approving The Appropriations Of The 
2025 Revised City Of Everett Budget And Amending Ordinance No. 4099-25. (3rd & Final 
Reading 9/17/25)

CB 2508-47.PDF

BRIEFING & PROPOSED ACTION ITEM:

ACTION ITEMS:

(8) Authorize The Mayor To Sign The Project Labor Agreement For The Port Gardner 
Storage Facility.

PGSF_PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENT.PDF

(9) Authorize The Mayor To Sign All Necessary Documents And Agreements With 
Snohomish County Regarding The Sex Offender Address And Residency Verification 
Program Services, Allowing The Everett Police Department To Accept And Utilize The 
Funds In The Amount Of $101,000.

2025-2026 RSO ILA_CITY OF EVERETT.PDF

(10) CB 2508-45 – 3rd & Final Reading – Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special 
Improvement Project Entitled “Municipal Court Access Control Installation Project ”, Fund 
342, Program 053 To Accumulate All Costs For The Project.

CB 2508-45.PDF

Executive Session

Adjourn

PARTICIPATION IN REMOTE COUNCIL MEETINGS

l Participate remotely via Zoom by registering to speak at everettwa.gov/speakerform. You 
must register no later than 30 minutes prior to the meeting. You may contact the Council 
office at 425.257.8703 or aely@everettwa.gov and identify the topic you wish to address. 

l Provide written public comments by email to Council@everettwa.gov or mail to 2930 
Wetmore Avenue, Suite 9A, Everett, WA 98201. Emailing comments 24 hours prior to the 
meeting will ensure your comment is distributed to councilmembers and appropriate staff.  

l Persons seeking to comment on non-agenda items may be asked to submit the comments 
in writing if the comment does not address an issue of broad public interest.

AGENDAS, BROADCAST AND RECORDINGS

l The Council agendas and meeting recordings can be found, in their entirety, at 
everettwa.gov/citycouncil. 

l Watch live meetings and recordings at YouTube.com/EverettCity.

CONTACT THE COUNCIL

If you do not wish to participate in the meeting, we provide these other methods of contacting your 
elected officials: Email the Council at Council@everettwa.gov or call the Council offices at 
425.257.8703.

The City of Everett does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the admission or access to, 
or treatment in, its programs or activities. Requests for assistance or accommodations can be 
arranged by contacting the Everett City Council Office at 425.257.8703. For additional information, 
please visit our website at https://www.everettwa.gov/3129/American-Disabilities-Act-ADA-and-
Title-.

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:



Everett City Council Preliminary Agenda

 6:30 p.m., Wednesday, September 3, 2025

City Council Chambers
Roll Call

Pledge Of Allegiance

Land Acknowledgment

Approval Of Minutes: August 27, 2025

Mayor ’s Comments

Public Comment

Council Comments

Administration Update

City Attorney 

CONSENT ITEMS:

(1) Adopt Resolution Authorizing Claims Against The City Of Everett In The Amount Of 
$1,339,361.83 For The Period Ending August 16, 2025, Through August 22, 2025.

RES_CLAIMS PAYABLE 08.22.25.PDF

(2) Authorize Staff To Apply For And If Awarded Authorize The Mayor To Sign All 
Necessary And Required Documents To Accept The Emergency Management Performance 
Grant In The Amount Of $53,150.

EMPG.PDF

(3) Authorize The Mayor To Sign Amendment 1 Of The Everett Station Operations And 
Maintenance Agreement Between Sound Transit And The City Of Everett (GA 0127-20).

EVERETT STATION OM-GA 0127-20 AMEND NO.1.PDF

(4) Authorize The Mayor To Sign Agreement For Indigent Defense Services (RALJ Public 
Defender), With Snohomish County Public Defenders Association.

INDIGENT DEFENSE APPEAL SERVICES.PDF

(5) Adopt A Resolution Declaring A 2017 Ford F550 With Altec AT40G Hybrid Electric 
Manlift Bucket J0161 Surplus And Authorize Its Sale At Public Auction.

RES_J0161 2017 FORD F550.PDF

PROPOSED ACTION ITEM:

(6) CB 2508-46 – 1st Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special Improvement 
Project Entitled “Riverpoint Outfalls Replacement” Fund 336, Program 049. (3rd & Final 
Reading 9/17/25)

CB 2508-46.PDF

(7) CB 2508-47 – 1st Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Approving The Appropriations Of The 
2025 Revised City Of Everett Budget And Amending Ordinance No. 4099-25. (3rd & Final 
Reading 9/17/25)

CB 2508-47.PDF

BRIEFING & PROPOSED ACTION ITEM:

ACTION ITEMS:

(8) Authorize The Mayor To Sign The Project Labor Agreement For The Port Gardner 
Storage Facility.

PGSF_PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENT.PDF

(9) Authorize The Mayor To Sign All Necessary Documents And Agreements With 
Snohomish County Regarding The Sex Offender Address And Residency Verification 
Program Services, Allowing The Everett Police Department To Accept And Utilize The 
Funds In The Amount Of $101,000.

2025-2026 RSO ILA_CITY OF EVERETT.PDF

(10) CB 2508-45 – 3rd & Final Reading – Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special 
Improvement Project Entitled “Municipal Court Access Control Installation Project ”, Fund 
342, Program 053 To Accumulate All Costs For The Project.

CB 2508-45.PDF

Executive Session

Adjourn

PARTICIPATION IN REMOTE COUNCIL MEETINGS

l Participate remotely via Zoom by registering to speak at everettwa.gov/speakerform. You 
must register no later than 30 minutes prior to the meeting. You may contact the Council 
office at 425.257.8703 or aely@everettwa.gov and identify the topic you wish to address. 

l Provide written public comments by email to Council@everettwa.gov or mail to 2930 
Wetmore Avenue, Suite 9A, Everett, WA 98201. Emailing comments 24 hours prior to the 
meeting will ensure your comment is distributed to councilmembers and appropriate staff.  

l Persons seeking to comment on non-agenda items may be asked to submit the comments 
in writing if the comment does not address an issue of broad public interest.

AGENDAS, BROADCAST AND RECORDINGS

l The Council agendas and meeting recordings can be found, in their entirety, at 
everettwa.gov/citycouncil. 

l Watch live meetings and recordings at YouTube.com/EverettCity.

CONTACT THE COUNCIL

If you do not wish to participate in the meeting, we provide these other methods of contacting your 
elected officials: Email the Council at Council@everettwa.gov or call the Council offices at 
425.257.8703.

The City of Everett does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the admission or access to, 
or treatment in, its programs or activities. Requests for assistance or accommodations can be 
arranged by contacting the Everett City Council Office at 425.257.8703. For additional information, 
please visit our website at https://www.everettwa.gov/3129/American-Disabilities-Act-ADA-and-
Title-.

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

http://everettwa.gov/speakerform
mailto:aely@everettwa.gov
http://everettwa.gov/citycouncil
http://youtube.com/everettcity
mailto:Council@everettwa.gov
https://www.everettwa.gov/e2da4057-b1dc-4846-8207-1266e83f2c6d


Be it Resolved by the City Council of the City of Everett:

Fund Department Amount Fund Department  Amount 

002 General Funds 11,528.90 101 Parks & Recreation 66,909.25
003 Legal 131,569.73 110 Library 12,827.06
005 Municipal Court 1,180.19 112 Municipal Arts 2,500.00
009 Misc Financial Funds 17,491.26 120 Public Works - Streets 1,117.87
010 Finance 203.95 126 MV-Equip. Replacement Reserve 104,899.48
021 Planning & Community Dev 5,084.80 130 Develop & Const Permit Fees 64.58
024 Public Works-Engineering 30,148.02 145 Cum Res/ Real Prop Acq. 38,080.82
026 Animal Shelter 346.40 146 Property Management 14,073.49
030 Emergency Management 84.33 153 Emergency Med Svc 13,511.11
031 Police 1,071.00 155 Capital Reserve Fund 204,615.23
032 Fire 8,896.58 156 Criminal Justice 56,688.13

162 Capital Projects Reserve 26,345.44
198 Comm Dev Block Grants 13,496.50

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 336 Water & Sewer Sys Improv Project 31,858.07
207,605.16$    342 City Facilities Const. 84,543.45

354 Parks Capital Const. 10,700.20
401 Public Works-Utilities 213,905.69
402 Solid Waste Utility 2,071.37
425 Public Works-Transit 6,585.63
440 Golf 26,902.19
501 MVD - Trans Services 66,187.19
503 Self-Insurance 4,115.00
505 Computer Reserve 22,520.73
637 Police Pension 39,144.66
638 Fire Pension 55,998.53
661 Claims 12,095.00

TOTAL CLAIMS 1,339,361.83

Councilperson introducing Resolution

Passed and approved this ________day of ___________, 2025

Council President

Whereas the claims payable by check against the City of Everett for the period August 16, 2025 through August 22, 

2025, having been audited and approved by the proper officers, have been paid and the disbursements made by the 

same, against the proper funds in payment thereof, as follows:

RESOLUTION NO. __________



 

                                                                                                                                                                                

  

  

    

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Project title: Emergency Management Performance Grant  

Council Bill # interoffice use  
 

Project: 2025 Emergency Management Performance Grant 

Partner/Supplier: Washington State Military Department  

                    Location: NA  

Preceding action:  NA 

Fund: 030 

Agenda dates requested:  
 
 

Briefing 
Proposed action 
Consent                   9/03/25 
Action 
Ordinance 
Public hearing 
 Yes      X No 
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes  X No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  X No 

 

Attachments: 
 
 

Department(s) involved: 
Office of Emergency 
Management 
 

Contact person: 
Jim Sande  
 

Phone number: 
425-257-8109 
 

Email: 
jsande@everettwa.gov 
 
 
 
 
 
Initialed by: 
JS 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement:  
Grant award: $53,150 

Financial impact: None 

Funding source: Washington State Military Department  

 
Project summary statement: 

Renewal Grant: Since 2005, the Washington State Military Department has awarded the 
Emergency Management Performance Grant (EMPG) annually to the Office of Emergency 
Management to support departmental costs associated with personnel and supplies. The 
purpose of EMPG is to support jurisdictions through an all-hazards approach to sustaining and 
enhancing disaster program areas. The primary objective of the grant program is to assist 
agencies in implementing measures to support a secure and resilient nation. Office of Emergency 
Management staff salary and benefits are utilized to meet grant match requirements with no 
additional costs incurred by the City 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 
Authorize staff to apply for and if awarded authorize the Mayor to sign all necessary and required 
documents to accept the Emergency Management Performance Grant in the amount of $53,150. 

 

 

City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 



 

                                                                                                                                                                                

  

  

    

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Project title: Amendment 1 to the Everett Station Operations and Maintenance Agreement between 
Sound Transit and the City of Everett-(GA 0127-20) 

Council Bill # interoffice use  
 

Project: Everett Station Operations and Maintenance Agreement 

Partner/Supplier: Central Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority (“Sound 
Transit”) 

Location: N/A 

Preceding action:  Council Approval 6/30/2021 

Fund: N/A 

Agenda dates requested:  
 
 

Briefing 
Proposed action 
Consent                   9/3/25 
Action  
Ordinance 
Public hearing 
 Yes      X No 
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes  X No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  X No 

 

Attachments: 
Memorandum of Agreement 
 

Department(s) involved: 
Transit 
 

Contact person: 
Michael Schmieder  
 

Phone number: 
425-257-7761  
 

Email: 
mschmieder@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 
MJS 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement:  
Sound Transit will compensate the City for the operation and maintenance of the 
Everett Station according to the scope of services and responsibilities stated in 
this Agreement in Section 3 and Exhibit C. 

Project summary statement: 

The purpose of this Agreement is to specify the respective responsibilities of the 
Parties regarding the maintenance and operations of Everett Station related to 
Sound Transit's regional bus service (''ST Express") and commuter rail service 
("Sounder"). This Agreement addresses the associated maintenance costs and 
the basis for allocation of costs to be borne by each Party. 

The purpose of Amendment 1 is to modify the Term of the Agreement from an 
initial expiration date of December 31, 2025. The Parties now desire to modify 
the expiration date to December 31, 2026. 

 Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 
Authorize the Mayor to sign Amendment 1 of the Everett Station Operations and 
Maintenance Agreement Between Sound Transit and the City of Everett (GA 
0127-20). 

 

City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 

https://www.everettwa.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Item/12400?fileID=74531


 

GA 0127-20 Amendment 1  Page 1 of 1 
 

Amendment 1 

to 

Everett Station Operations and Maintenance Agreement  

Between Sound Transit and the City of Everett 
GA 0127-20 

 

In accordance with Section 12.15 Amendments of the Everett Station Operations and 

Maintenance Agreement (“Agreement”), this Amendment 01 is entered into between the 

Central Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority (“Sound Transit”), a regional transit authority 

created pursuant to chapters 81.104 and 81.112 RCW, and the City of Everett, a Washington 

municipal corporation (“City”), sometimes collectively referred to as “Parties” or individually as 

“Party.”  

 

The purpose of this Amendment is to modify the Term of the Agreement. 

A. Subsection 14.1 Term of the Agreement provided for an initial expiration date of 

December 31, 2025, with an option to extend the agreement for three more years.  

B. The Parties now desire to modify the expiration date to December 31, 2026. 

 

The remaining terms and conditions of the Agreement shall be unchanged and remain in full 

force and effect. 

 

City: _______________________ Sound Transit: ___________________ 

By: Cassie Franklin, Mayor By: Dow Constantine, CEO 

Date: _______________________ Date: ____________________________ 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

Approved as to form: 

By: _______________________ By: _________________________ 

Office of the City Attorney  Sound Transit Legal Counsel 

 

Attest:  

 

By: ________________________ 

 

Office of the City Clerk 

 

 



















































 

                                                                                                                                                                                

  

  

    

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Project title: Agreement for Indigent Defense Services (RALJ Public Defender) 

Council Bill # interoffice use  
 

Project: Agreement Indigent Defense Services (RALJ Public Defender) 

Partner/Supplier: Snohomish County Public Defenders Association (SCPDA) 

                    Location:  

Preceding action:  10/30/19 – Contract Executed 

Fund: Fund 003 – Indigent Defense Program 

Agenda dates requested:  
 

Briefing 
Proposed action 
Consent                    9/03/25 
Action 
Ordinance 
Public hearing 
 Yes      X No 
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes  X No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  X No 

 

Attachments: 
Contract 
 

Department(s) involved: 
Legal 
 

Contact person: 
David Hall  
 

Phone number: 
x8624 
 

Email: 
dhall@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 
 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement:  
The specific financial impact is unknown as the Court cannot predict how many cases will be 
appealed.   However, this contract is a renewal of the City’s current contract with SCPDA.  In the 
past two years, the annual amount spent on the contract has been less than $20,000. We expect 
some increase from past years. 

Project summary statement: 

Individuals charged with misdemeanors and gross misdemeanors in the City of Everett are 
prosecuted in Everett Municipal Court. Most defendants are unable to afford legal 
representation and are classified as “indigent” under state guidelines. Under the U.S. 
Constitution, all criminal defendants have the right to legal counsel. To fulfill this obligation, the 
City must provide attorneys at its own expense for indigent defendants. 

When a case is appealed, new legal counsel must be appointed by the City. This contract covers 
legal services for indigent defendants who appeal their Everett Municipal Court convictions to 
the Superior Court. These appeals are governed by the Rules for Appeals of Decisions of Courts of 
Limited Jurisdiction (RALJ). 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 
Authorize the Mayor to sign Agreement for Indigent Defense Services (RALJ Public Defender), 
with Snohomish County Public Defenders Association. 

 

City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 



1 
 

AGREEMENT FOR INDIGENT DEFENSE SERVICES 
(RALJ PUBLIC DEFENDER) 

 
 

This Agreement is dated as of date of last signature below, by and between the CITY OF 
EVERETT, a Washington municipal corporation (the “City”) and Snohomish County Public 
Defender Association (the “RALJ Public Defender”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 The City has adopted standards for the provision of indigent defense services in EMC 
2.108.390 et seq.  
 

AGREEMENT 
The parties agree as follows: 
 
 1. Scope of Services, Standards and Warranties.  The RALJ Public Defender will 
provide indigent defense services in accordance with the standards adopted by the City in EMC 
2.108.390 as the same exists or is hereafter amended (hereinafter “Standards”).  The RALJ Public 
Defender individually warrants that the RALJ Public Defender, and every attorney and/or intern 
employed by the RALJ Public Defender to perform services under this Agreement, has read and 
is fully familiar with the provisions of the Standards adopted by the City.  Compliance with these 
Standards goes to the essence of this Agreement.   
 
  1.1 The RALJ Public Defender, and every attorney and/or intern performing 
services under this Agreement, shall certify compliance with Supreme Court Rule and governing 
case load quarterly with the Everett Municipal Court on the form established for that purpose by 
court rule.  A copy of each and every such certification shall be provided to the City 
contemporaneously with filing.  The RALJ Public Defender and every attorney and/or intern 
warrants that he/she shall conform to the case load limitations not only with respect to services 
under this Agreement but also with respect to his/her practice as a whole, including other contracts 
for public defense and/or private practice.   
 
  1.2 RALJ Public Defender will maintain contemporaneous records on a daily 
basis, documenting all work performed on a quarter of an hour basis on each assigned case. RALJ 
Public Defender will maintain and provide to the City a quarterly report detailing:   
 
   1.2.1 the number of RALJ cases assigned during the period and the time 
spent on each case; 
 1.2.2 the number of cases in which a brief was filed; 

   1.2.3 the number of cases in which oral argument was heard; 
  
     1.2.4 for each case: 
 

1. The date on which the case was assigned to RALJ Public 
Defender, and the attorney assigned to the case; and 



2 
 

2. The outcome of the RALJ decision. 
 

1.2.5 the RALJ Public Defender will monitor the workload of individual 
defenders to ensure workloads are within caseload standards. 

 
 
  1.3 The RALJ Public Defender further warrants that its compensation, 
reflected in Section 2, Compensation, reflects all infrastructure, support, administrative services, 
routine investigation, and systems necessary to comply with the Standards except as provided in 
Section 2.4 below.  
 
  1.4 In addition to the detailed time reports referenced in Section 1.2 and its 
subsections, the RALJ Public Defender shall provide quarterly reports to the City regarding the 
training provided to each attorney and the time spent by the RALJ Public Defender supervising 
each attorney, broken down into in-court and out-of-court supervision.  Supervision shall be 
provided in accord with standards by a supervisor without a workload or with an appropriately 
reduced workload.  In addition, the RALJ Public Defender shall establish a program for 
managing the performance of attorneys who provide the services called for in this Agreement. 
The performance monitoring program shall have the purpose of ensuring that each defendant 
receives effective assistance of counsel, and the terms and conditions of this Agreement are met. 
The monitoring program shall be developed and administered by the RALJ Public Defender, and 
shall: 
 

a.  Be actively performed and managed by a qualified supervisor; 
b.  Be continual in nature. Monitoring shall occur no less than quarterly; 

provided, caseload monitoring shall occur no less than monthly; 
c. Monitor the caseload of the RALJ Public Defender and each attorney 

providing services pursuant to this Agreement; 
d.  Monitor the performance of each employee who provides services 

pursuant to this Agreement; 
e.  Hold employees accountable for deficient performance of the 

services called for in this Agreement; 
f.  Have measures to correct the deficient performance of employees 

performing under this Agreement; and 
g.  Contain measures to develop and improve the performance of each 

employee providing services pursuant to this Agreement. 
h.  The monitoring program shall, at a minimum, be designed to review 

the following of each attorney or Rule 9 Intern: 
 

(1) Knowledge of the law and expectations of appellate counsel 
(2) Preparation of cases 
(3) Responsiveness to clients 
(4) Effectiveness of writing  
(5) Effectiveness in the courtroom 
(6) Attorney or Rule 9 caseload 

 



3 
 

The internal monitoring program shall be submitted to the Agreement Administrator within 60 
days after the execution of this Agreement.  RALJ Public Defender shall certify no less than 
annually that monitoring has occurred in conformity with this Agreement and the monitoring 
program. 
  

1.5 The RALJ Public Defender will promptly notify the City if any 
circumstance, including change in rule or law, renders it difficult or impossible to provide service 
in compliance with the Decision and/or the Standards. 
 
  1.6 The City places a very high value, expectation, and importance on the level 
of service and professional interaction from RALJ Public Defender. RALJ Public Defender will 
meet with the City for compliance meetings on an as-needed basis as determined by the City.  
  

If Municipal Court staff receive one or more complaints from others who interact with 
RALJ Public Defender, Municipal Court staff will make reasonable efforts to document the 
specifics of the complaint(s) and will notify RALJ Public Defender in writing. The RALJ Public 
Defender has an internal complaint process that is handled by the Attorney Administrator. The 
Attorney Administrator investigates and responds to all written complaints. The RALJ Public 
Defender will then promptly attempt to resolve the complaint(s) directly with the complainant. 
The RALJ Public Defender will document its attempts at resolution.  If RALJ Public Defender 
cannot achieve resolution, the matter may be added by the City or by RALJ Public Defender to the 
agenda of the next contract compliance meeting.  If so added, the RALJ Public Defender will no 
later than five days before the meeting provide to the Municipal Court Administrator and City 
Purchasing Manager a written description of the status of the unresolved complaint(s) and a 
corrective action plan. 

 
If during the quarter after a compliance meeting, a RALJ Public Defender compliance item 

(including without limitation complaints set forth in the previous paragraph) on the agenda of the 
previous compliance meeting remains unresolved, the City may convene an ad hoc committee to 
further consider the matter.  The ad hoc committee will if possible consist of a minimum the City’s 
Public Defense Overseer, the City Purchasing Manager,a member of the City Administration and 
other non-interested parties if such a member agrees to serve.  A decision by a majority of the ad 
hoc committee will be final.  

 
 2. Compensation.  Effective the date of execution of this Agreement, the City shall 
pay to the RALJ Public Defender for services rendered under this Agreement the sum of $110 per 
hour. Invoices will be reviewed for sufficiency of documentation and reasonableness of claims. If 
the RALJ Public Defender fails to adequately detail charges, or if the time claimed seems outside 
customary and usual limits, the RALJ Public Defender may be asked to provide additional 
information and/or revise the invoice. 
 

The compensation amount represents the salary and benefits necessary to provide public 
defense services in accordance with the Standards and as supplemented in Section 2.4 below, along 
with all infrastructure, support, and systems necessary to comply with the Standards including by 
way of illustration and not limitation, training, research, secretarial and office facilities, and 
investigation, translation, and mental and physical evaluation services.  As provided in Section 2.5 



4 
 

and its sub-paragraphs below, the parties will periodically review staffing in light of changes in 
court rule and case load in order to adjust staffing based on experience.  The parties believe that 
they have provided sufficient capacity to ensure that, in all respects and at all times, public defense 
service will comply with the Standards with an adequate reserve capacity for each attorney.  The 
RALJ Public Defender additionally agrees and promises that RALJ Public Defender will devote 
full effort to the performance of this Agreement and will undertake no private practice of law or 
other public contract that would impede its ability to perform under this Agreement or reduce the 
case count available to each Attorney.   
 
  2.1 Case Counts.  Based upon case counts maintained by RALJ Public Defender 
and reviewed by the City, the Projected Case Count represents current estimates for annual case 
counts for all indigent cases filed by the City likely to be assigned to RALJ Public Defender. The 
terms “case” and “credit” shall be defined in accordance with the Washington State Supreme Court 
rule and the Washington Office of Public Defense guidelines.   
 
  2.2 Adjustment; Internal Allocation.  As provided in the Standards, case counts 
may be revised upwards based upon a variety of factors.  Upon the RALJ Public Defender’s 
request, the City shall review any particular case with the RALJ Public Defender to determine 
whether greater weighting should be assigned, and upward revisions shall not be unreasonably 
refused.  The annual caseload shall be reviewed annually on or about June 30th each year.   
 
  2.3 Compensation.  Except as expressly provided in Section 2.4, the cost of all 
infrastructure, administrative, support and systems, as well as standard overhead services 
necessary to comply with the established standards, are provided for in the cost per case payment 
provided in Section 2 above.   
 
  2.4 Payments in Addition to the Compensation.  The City shall pay for the 
following case expenses when reasonably incurred and approved by the Court from funds available 
for that purpose:  
 
   2.4.1 Preauthorized Non-Routine Expenses.  Non-routine case expenses 
requested by the RALJ Public Defender and preauthorized by order of the Court.  Unless the 
services are performed by RALJ Public Defender’s staff or subcontractors, non-routine expenses 
include, but are not limited to: 
 

(i) transcripts of court proceedings;  
(ii) The cost of interpreters and/or Language Line services. 

    
   2.4.2 Copying Clients’ Files.  The cost, if it exceeds $25, of providing one 
copy of a client’s or former client’s case file upon client’s or client’s appellate, post-conviction 
relief or habeas corpus attorney’s request, or at the request of counsel appointed to represent the 
client when the client has been granted a new trial. 
  

2.5 Review and Renegotiation.   
 



5 
 

   2.5.1 Due to Increases or Decreases in Case Load.  The parties agree that 
the compensation stated in Section 2, unless adjusted under this Section 2.5, represents complete 
compensation to the RALJ Public Defender.  The City and the RALJ Public Defender shall, at the 
option of either party, renegotiate this Agreement if there is or is reasonably anticipated to be either 
(i) a significant increase in the cases assigned, such that the RALJ Public Defender would be 
required to hire additional attorney staff to remain in compliance with the Decision, Supreme Court 
Standards and the standards for the provision of indigent defense services adopted by the City, or 
(ii) a significant decrease in the number of cases assigned, such that the RALJ Public Defender 
could reduce attorney staff and remain in compliance with the Standards.  At the request of either 
party, the City and RALJ Public Defender will periodically review case assignment trends, 
requests for additional credits, and any other matters needed to determine Agreement compliance 
or necessary Agreement modifications.   
 
   2.5.2 Renegotiation Due to Change in Rule or Standard.  This Agreement 
may be renegotiated at the option of either party if the Washington State Supreme Court, the 
Washington State Bar or the City significantly modifies the Standards for Indigent Defense 
adopted pursuant to the Court rule or City Ordinance/Resolution.   
 
   2.5.3 Renegotiation due to increased direct costs such as rent and labor. 
Every two years, the RAJL Public Defender may request a hourly price increase by providing 
proof of increase sufficient to allow the city to analyze the validity of the requested increase to the 
City Purchasing Manager.  Such documentation must be presented not less than 60 days prior to 
the anniversary of the contract term.  Any such increase will only be effective upon written 
acceptance issued by the City of Everett to the RALJ Public Defender.  
 
 
 3. Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be from September 1, 2025, through 
August 31, 2027, unless sooner terminated as provided herein.  The parties agree to negotiate in 
good faith to provide for an appropriate transition to a new RALJ Public Defender at the end of 
any term if the City is delayed in reaching agreement with a successor and the RALJ Public 
Defender is requested to continue past the termination date.   
 
  3.1 For Cause.  This Agreement may be terminated for good cause for violation 
of any material term of this Agreement.  “Material term” shall include any violation indicating a 
failure to provide representation in accordance with the rules of court, the ethical obligations 
established by the Washington State Bar Association, the willful disregard of the rights and best 
interests of the client, a willful violation of the Standards, the provisions of Section 6 relating to 
insurance, conviction of a criminal charge, and/or a finding that the license of an attorney providing 
service under this Agreement, has been suspended or revoked.  Any violation of the other 
provisions of this Agreement shall be subject to cure.  Written notice of Agreement violation shall 
be provided to the RALJ Public Defender who shall have thirty (30) business days to cure the 
violation.  Failure to correct the violation will give rise to termination for cause at the City’s 
discretion.  In lieu of terminating this Agreement, the City may agree in writing to alternative 
corrective measures. 
 



6 
 

  3.2 Termination on Mutual Agreement.  The parties may agree in writing to 
terminate this Agreement at any time.  Unless otherwise agreed to in writing, termination or 
expiration of this Agreement does not affect any existing obligation or liability of either party.     
 
  3.3 Obligations Survive Termination.  In the event of termination of this 
Agreement, the following obligations shall survive and continue: 
 
   3.3.1 Representation.  The compensation established in this Agreement 
compensates RALJ Public Defender for services relating to each and every assigned case.  
Therefore, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the RALJ Public Defender will continue to 
represent clients on assigned cases until the appeal matter is resolved.  
 
   3.3.2 The provisions of Sections 1 and 5, as well as subsection 2.4 survive 
termination as to the RALJ Public Defender.  The City shall remain bound by the provisions of 
subsection 2.4 with respect to additional costs incurred with respect to cases concluded after the 
termination of this Agreement.  
 
 4. Nondiscrimination.  Neither the RALJ Public Defender nor any person acting on 
behalf of the RALJ Public Defender, shall, by reason of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, 
sexual orientation, honorably discharged doctrine or military status, or the presence of any sensory, 
mental, or physical disability or the use of a trained guide dog or service animal by a person with 
a disability, discriminate against any person who is qualified and available to perform the work to 
which the employment relates, or in the provision of services under this Agreement.   
 
 5. Indemnification.  The RALJ Public Defender agrees to hold harmless and 
indemnify the City, its officers, officials, agents, employees, and representatives from and against 
any and all claims, costs, judgments, losses, or suits including RALJ Public Defender’s fees or 
awards, and including claims by RALJ Public Defender’s own employees to which RALJ Public 
Defender might otherwise be immune under Title 51 arising out of or in connection with any 
willful misconduct or negligent error, or omission of the RALJ Public Defender, its officers or 
agents.   
 
 It is specifically and expressly understood that the indemnification provided herein 
constitutes the waiver of the RALJ Public Defender’s waiver of immunity under Title 51 RCW 
solely for the purposes of this indemnification.  The parties have mutually negotiated this waiver.   
 
 The City agrees to hold harmless and indemnify the RALJ Public Defender, its officers, 
officials, agents, employees, and representatives from and against any and all claims, costs, 
judgments, losses, or suits including RALJ Public Defender’s fees or awards, arising out of or in 
connection with any willful misconduct or negligent error or omission of the City, its officers or 
agents.  
 
 This Section 5 shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement and shall 
continue to be in effect for any claims or causes of action arising hereunder.   
 



7 
 

 6. Insurance.  The RALJ Public Defender shall procure and maintain for the duration 
of this Agreement insurance against claims for injuries to persons or property which may arise 
from or in connection with the performance of work hereunder by the RALJ Public Defender, or 
the agents, representatives, employees, or subcontractors of the RALJ Public Defender.   
 
  6.1 Minimum Scope of Insurance.  The RALJ Public Defender shall obtain 
insurance of the types described below, naming the City as an additional named insured: 
 

6.1.1 General Liability with a minimum limit of liability of $2,000,000 
combined single limit each occurrence bodily injury and property damage. 
 

6.1.2 Automobile Liability covering owned and non-owned vehicles with 
a minimum limit of liability of $1,000,000 combined single limit each occurrence bodily injury 
and property damage. 
 

6.1.3 Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions) for RALJ Public 
Defender with a minimum limit of liability of $2,000,000 each claim. 
 

6.1.4 Workers’ Compensation per statutory requirements of Washington 
industrial insurance RCW Title 51.   
 
  6.2 Verification of Coverage.  RALJ Public Defender shall furnish the City with 
original certificates and a copy of the amendatory endorsements, including but not necessarily 
limited to the additional insured endorsement, evidencing the insurance requirements of the RALJ 
Public Defender before commencement of the work.  Policies shall provide thirty (30) days written 
notice of cancellation to the City.  The RALJ Public Defender shall provide the City with proof of 
insurance for “tail coverage” no later than December 31 of the year of termination of the 
Agreement.  The purpose of “tail coverage” is to provide insurance coverage for all claims that 
might arise from occurrences during the term of the Agreement or extension(s) thereof, but not 
filed during the term of the Agreement.  
 
 7. Work Performed by RALJ Public Defender.  In addition to compliance with the 
Standards, in the performance of work under this Agreement, RALJ Public Defender shall comply 
with all federal, state and municipal laws, ordinances, rules and regulations which are applicable 
to RALJ Public Defender’s business, equipment, and personnel engaged in operations covered by 
this Agreement or accruing out of the performance of such operations.   
 
 8. Work Performed at RALJ Public Defender’s Risk.  RALJ Public Defender shall be 
responsible for the safety of its employees, agents, and subcontractors in the performance of work 
hereunder, and shall take all protections reasonably necessary for that purpose.  All work shall be 
done at the Attorney’s own risk, and the RALJ Public Defender shall be responsible for any loss 
or damage to materials, tools, or other articles used or held in connection with the work. RALJ 
Public Defender shall also pay its employees all wages, salaries and benefits required by law and 
provide for taxes, withholding and all other employment related charges, taxes or fees in 
accordance with law and IRS regulations.   
 



8 
 

 9. Personal Services, no Subcontracting.  This Agreement has been entered into in 
consideration of the RALJ Public Defender’s particular skills, qualifications, experience, and 
ability to meet the Standards incorporated in this Agreement.  This Agreement shall not be 
subcontracted without the express written consent of the City and refusal to subcontract may be 
withheld at the City’s sole discretion.  Any assignment of this Agreement by the RALJ Public 
Defender without the express written consent of the City shall be void.   
 
 10. Modification.  No waiver, alteration or modification of any of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall be binding unless in writing and signed by the duly authorized representatives of 
the City and the RALJ Public Defender.     
 
 11. Entire Agreement.  The written provisions in terms of this Agreement, together with 
any exhibit attached hereto, shall supersede all prior verbal statements of any officer or other 
representative of the City, and such statement(s) shall not be effective or construed as entering into 
or forming a part of, or altering in any manner whatsoever, this Agreement.  This Agreement shall 
supersede any and all prior agreements between the parties. 
 
 12. Written Notice.  All communications regarding this Agreement shall be sent to the 
parties at the addresses listed below, unless notified to the contrary.  Any written notice hereunder 
shall become effective as of the date of mailing by registered or certified mail, and shall be deemed 
sufficiently given if sent to the addressee at the address stated in the Agreement or such other 
address as may be hereinafter specified in writing:  
 
CITY:      RALJ PUBLIC DEFENDER: 
City of Everett     Snohomish County Public Defender Assn. 
City Attorney’s Office   Attention: Kathleen Kyle 
2930 Wetmore Ave., Suite 10-C   2722 Colby Ave., Suite 200 
Everett WA 98201    Everett, WA 98201  
       
 13. Nonwaiver of Breach.  The failure of the City to insist upon strict performance of 
any of the covenants and agreements contained herein or to exercise any option herein conferred 
in one or more instances shall not be construed to be a waiver or relinquishment of such covenants, 
agreements, or options and the same shall be and remain in full force and effect.  
 
 14. Resolutions of Disputes, Governing Law.  Should any dispute, misunderstanding 
or conflict arise as to the terms or conditions contained in this Agreement, the matter shall be 
referred to the Agreement Administrator, whose decision shall be final.  Provided, however, that 
any complaint regarding any violation of the Standards or which relate to any manner whatsoever 
to trial strategy or an ongoing case, shall be referred to the Judge of the City’s Municipal Court or 
to the Washington State Bar Association as appropriate.  Nothing herein shall be construed to 
obligate, require or permit the City, its officers, agents, or employees to inquire into any privileged 
communication between the RALJ Public Defender and any indigent defendant.  In the event of 
any litigation arising out of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be reimbursed for reasonable 
RALJ Public Defender’s fees from the other party.  This Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington and the rules of the Washington 



9 
 

Supreme Court as applicable.  Venue for an action arising out of this Agreement shall be in 
Snohomish County Superior Court.   
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the ________ day 
of ______________________, 2025.   
        
 
       CITY OF EVERETT 
 
 
       By:       
        Cassie Franklin, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:       
 Office of the City Clerk 
 
 
 

SNOHOMISH COUNTY PUBLIC 
DEFENDER ASSOCIATION  

       
    

       By:       
        Kathleen Kyle, Director 
             
       By:       



   City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 

 

Project title: Adopt a Resolution Declaring a 2017 Ford F550 with Altec AT40G Hybrid Electric Manlift
Bucket Surplus and Authorizing Sale at Public Auction 

Council Bill # interoffice use 

Project: Resolution declaring a 2017 Ford F550 with Altec AT40G Hybrid Electric
Manlift Bucket (J0161) Surplus and Authorizing Sale at Public Auction 

Partner/Supplier: N/A 

     Location: N/A

Preceding action:  N/A

Fund: 401 Utilities 

Agenda dates requested: 

Briefing 
Proposed action 
Consent         
Action             9/03/25 
Ordinance 
Public hearing      

No      Yes 

Budget amendment: 
Yes X No 

PowerPoint presentation: 
Yes  X No 

Attachments: 
Resolution 

Department(s) involved: 
Procurement & Motor 
Vehicles 

Contact person: 
Theresa Bauccio-Teschlog 

Phone number: 
(425) 257-8901

Email: 
tbauccio@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 

Department head 

Administration 

Council President 

Fiscal summary statement 
Funds received from this surplus sale will be returned to Fund 401 Utilities.  

Project summary statement: 

RCW 35.94.040, amended by the Legislature in 2020, requires a public hearing before the sale 
of equipment originally acquired for public utility purposes if its value exceeds $50,000. 

The Public Works Department, Utilities Division, owns a 2017 Ford F550 with an Altec AT40G 
Hybrid Electric Manlift Bucket (J0161). The department no longer needs the truck, as the 
position was eliminated. Additionally, the truck experienced random, recurring electrical issues 
due to its early design as a hybrid bucket truck.  

J0161 has approximately 646 hours and has an estimated surplus value of $84,000. It is no 
longer needed and is not being replaced.  

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 

Adopt a Resolution declaring a 2017 Ford F550 with Altec AT40G Hybrid Electric Manlift Bucket 
J0161 surplus and authorize its sale at public auction. 



 
 
 
RESOLUTION NO. ______________ 
 
A RESOLUTION declaring a 2017 Ford F550 with Altec AT40G Hybrid Electric Manlift Bucket 
(J0161) surplus and authorizing it for sale at public auction. 
 
WHEREAS,  
 

1. The City has a 2017 Ford F550 with Altec AT40G Hybrid Electric Manlift Bucket (J0161)  
 

2. The above-referenced equipment is no longer of value or use to the City. The equipment was 
originally acquired for public utility purposes.  The City Utilities Division has determined that the 
equipment is not required to provide continued public utility service.  The equipment has 
an estimated value in excess of $50,000. 
 

3. Chapter 3.88 EMC establishes a procedure and methods for surplus or disposition of City-owned 
personal property 

 
4. Based on the guidelines set forth in EMC 3.88.020, a public auction is the disposition method 

that best meets the City’s interests. 
 

5. The City’s Procurement Manager has reported the basis for the estimated value of the surplus 
property and has recommended the surplus of the above-referenced vehicle and equipment by 
public auction. 
 

6. In accordance with RCW 35.94.040, the City Council held a public hearing regarding the 
proposed surplus and sale of the equipment before the adoption of this resolution. 
 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND EVERETT CITY COUNCIL THAT:  
 
1. The City has a 2017 Ford F550 with Altec AT40G Hybrid Electric Manlift Bucket (J0161).  This 
equipment is determined to be surplus to the city's needs and is not required to provide continued 
public utility service. 
 
2. The disposition of this equipment at a public auction is hereby authorized. 
 
_________________________________________     
Councilmember introducing Resolution 
 
Passed and approved this _____ day of ___________________, 2025. 
 
______________________________________ 
Council President 



 

                                                                                                                                                                                

  

  

    

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Project title: An Ordinance creating a special improvement project entitled “Riverpoint Outfalls 
Replacement” Fund 336, Program 049. 

Council Bill # interoffice use  
CB 2508-46 

Project: Riverpoint Outfalls Replacement 

Partner/Supplier:  

                    Location: North and South Outfall at Riverpoint (EPIC) 

Preceding action:  None 

Fund: 336 - Water & Sewer System Improvements Fund 

Agenda dates requested:  
 

1st Reading            9/03/25 
2nd Reading           9/10/25 
Consent 
Action                    9/17/25 
Ordinance             x 
Public hearing 
 Yes      X No 
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes  X No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  X No 

 

Attachments: 
Proposed Ordinance 
 

Department(s) involved: 
Public Works, Admin 
 

Contact person: 
Grant Moen  
 

Phone number: 
425-257-8947 
 

Email: 
gmoen@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 
RLS 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement:  
This funding ordinance establishes funding and accounting for the Riverpoint Outfalls project. 
The programmed available funding for design and construction of this project is $2,000,000. The 
funding source for this project will be Fund 401 – Water & Sewer Utility.     

 
Project summary statement: 

This project will improve drainage of the Riverpoint (EPIC) area by replacing two undersized 
stormwater outfalls (North and South Outfall) to the Snohomish River. This replacement will 
reduce backflow during wet conditions, help mitigate localized flooding along Railway Avenue 
and accommodate future development. Additionally, a water quality treatment facility using a 
Modular Wetlands Linear stormwater treatment system will be installed at the South Outfall to 
improve water quality by treating the approximately 43.8-acre contributing basin. 

Anticipated future development of this area includes the construction of a bridge over the 
railroad tracks at Everett Avenue connecting to Railway Avenue, and construction of the new 
Public Works Service Center. This project will establish a foundation for improving water quality 
before full-scale development begins and ensure adequate drainage system capacity. 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 

Adopt an Ordinance creating a Special Improvement Project entitled “Riverpoint Outfalls 
Replacement” Fund 336, Program 049. 

 

City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 



 
 
 
 
 
 
ORDINANCE NO.      
 
An ORDINANCE creating a special improvement project entitled “Riverpoint Outfalls Replacement” 
Fund 336, Program 049, to accumulate all costs for the improvement. 
 
WHEREAS,  
 

A. The City of Everett is committed to a planned stormwater infrastructure improvement and 
replacement program. 

 
B. The City of Everett has identified the need and obtained funds to construct certain stormwater 

improvements. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF EVERETT DOES ORDAIN: 
 
Section 1. A special improvement project is hereby established as Fund 336, Program 049, entitled 
“Riverpoint Outfalls Replacement” to accumulate all costs for the improvement. Authorization is hereby 
given to accumulate costs and distribute payments for the improvement project. 
 
Section 2. Authorization is hereby granted for the “Public Works Director” or “City Engineer” under 
the direction of the Mayor, to assume full and complete responsibility for conducting all tasks and doing 
all things to accomplish the actions authorized in this ordinance. 

 
Section 3. The sum of $2,000,000 is hereby appropriated to Fund 336, Program 049, “Riverpoint 
Outfalls Replacement” as follows: 
 
 A. Estimated Project Design and Construction Costs   $2,000,000 
 
 B. Source of Funds  

     Fund 401 – Water/Sewer Utility Fund     $2,000,000 
  
 
Section 4. The City Clerk and the codifiers of this Ordinance are authorized to make necessary 
corrections to this Ordinance including, but not limited to, the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, 
references, ordinance numbering, section/subsection numbers, and any internal references. 
Section 5. The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, 
or phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it 
would have passed all portions of this ordinance independent of the elimination of any such portion as 



ORDINANCE  Page 2 of 2 
 

may be declared invalid. 

Section 6. The enactment of this Ordinance shall not affect any case, proceeding, appeal or other 
matter currently pending in any court or in any way modify any right or liability, civil or criminal, which 
may be in existence on the effective date of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 7. It is expressly the purpose of this Ordinance to provide for and promote the health, 
safety, and welfare of the general public and not to create or otherwise establish or designate any 
particular class or group of persons who will or should be especially protected or benefited by the terms 
of this Ordinance.  It is the specific intent of this Ordinance that no provision or any term used in this 
Ordinance is intended to impose any duty whatsoever upon the City or any of its officers or employees.  
Nothing contained in this Ordinance is intended nor shall be construed to create or form the basis of any 
liability on the part of the City, or its officers, employees, or agents, for any injury or damage resulting 
from any action or inaction on the part of the City related in any manner to the enforcement of this 
Ordinance by its officers, employees, or agents. 
 
 
            
            
      
Cassie Franklin, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Marista Jorve, City Clerk 
 
PASSED:      

VALID:       

PUBLISHED:      

EFFECTIVE DATE:     

 



 

                                                                                                                                                                                

  

  

    

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Project title: An Ordinance approving the appropriations of the 2025 revised City of Everett Budget and 
amending Ordinance No. 4099-25.  

Council Bill # interoffice use  
CB 2508-47 

Project: 2025 Budget Amendment #3 

Partner/Supplier: NA 

                    Location: NA  

Preceding action:  Ordinance No. 4099-25 

Fund: Multiple 

Agenda dates requested:  
 
 

Briefing                           9/3/25 
Proposed action         9/10/25 
Action                           9/17/25 
Ordinance                                X 
Public hearing 
 Yes      X No 
 

Budget amendment: 
X Yes   No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
X Yes   No 

 

Attachments: 
Ordinance 
 

Department(s) involved: 
Finance 
 

Contact person: 
Heide Brillantes 
 

Phone number: 
(425) 257-8612 
 

Email: 
HBrillantes@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 
HB 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement:  
The proposed Ordinance amends the City of Everett 2025 Operating Budget, increasing General 
Government budgeted expenditures by $671,767 and increasing Non-General Government 
budgeted expenses by $32,194,474, for a total of $32,866,241.  

Project summary statement: 

This budget amendment revises the 2025 budget to appropriate funding for financial activities 
that will occur this year.  

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 
Adopt an Ordinance approving the appropriations of the 2025 revised City of Everett Budget and 
amending Ordinance No. 4099-25. 

 

City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 



2025 BUDGET ADJUSTMENTS for Budget Amendment # 3

General Government Amendments

Beginning Ending
Fund Description Fund Balance Revenues Expenditures Fund Balance

GGR-10 Emergency Management Emergency Management - Department of Ecology Grant -                   -                   25,432             (25,432)            

GGR-10 General Fund Emergency Management - Department of Ecology Grant 25,432             -                   -                   25,432             

GGA-8 General Fund Workforce Adjustments -                   97,285             -                   97,285             

GGA-8 CPED Workforce Adjustments -                   -                   97,285             (97,285)            

GGA-8 Legal Workforce Adjustments -                   -                   100,000           (100,000)          

GGA-8 Non-Departmental Workforce Adjustments -                   -                   -                   -                   

GGA-9 Non-Departmental Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset -                   -                   5,324,000        (5,324,000)       

GGA-9 General Fund Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset -                   700,000           -                   700,000           

GGA-9 Police Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset -                   -                   (3,359,000)       3,359,000        

GGA-9 Fire Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset -                   -                   (600,000)          600,000           

GGA-9 Streets Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset -                   (400,000)          (400,000)          -                   

GGA-9 Engineering & Public Services Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset -                   -                   (400,000)          400,000           

GGA-9 Parks & Community Services Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset -                   (300,000)          (300,000)          -                   

GGA-9 Information Technology Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset -                   -                   (150,000)          150,000           

GGA-9 Municipal Court Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset -                   -                   (75,000)            75,000             

GGA-9 Animal Services Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset -                   -                   (40,000)            40,000             

GGA-10 Library Library - Internet Utilities -                   5,650               5,650               -                   

GGA-10 General Fund Library - Internet Utilities -                   (5,650)              -                   (5,650)              

GGA-10 Non-Departmental Library - Internet Utilities -                   -                   -                   -                   

GGA-11 General Fund Indigent Defense Grant -                   165,000           -                   165,000           

GGA-11 Legal Indigent Defense Grant -                   -                   165,000           (165,000)          

GGA-12 Non-Departmental Interfund Transfer for Reservoir #3 Site Cleanup -                   -                   278,400           (278,400)          

Total General Government Amendments   25,432             262,285           671,767           (384,050)          

Non-General Government Amendments

Beginning Ending
Fund Description Fund Balance Revenues Expenditures Fund Balance

NGA-14 CIP-1 CIP-1 General Government Capital Projects -                   -                   277,000           (277,000)          

NGA-15 Emergency Medical Services Fund Fire Training Center Project Design -                   -                   200,000           (200,000)          

NGA-16 CIP-3 CIP-3 Parks Projects -                   -                   2,375,159        (2,375,159)       

NGA-17 Debt Service Fund 2025 Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series A -                   21,535,046      21,535,046      -                   

NGA-17 CIP-2 2025 Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series A -                   16,796,610      -                   16,796,610      

NGA-18 Debt Service Fund 2025 Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series B -                   6,150,786        6,150,786        -                   

NGA-19 CIP-4 Adjustment to Reserve Balances -                   213,873           -                   213,873           

NGA-19 Cum Res/Real Prop Acq Adjustment to Reserve Balances -                   261,166           -                   261,166           

NGA-20 Fund for Animals Animal Reserve Grants and Donations -                   115,903           115,903           -                   

NGA-21 Cumulative Reserve for Library Library Reserve Donation -                   5,000               5,000               -                   

NGA-22 Health Benefits Reserve Health Benefits Cash Reserves -                   1,535,580        1,535,580        -                   

Total Non-General Government Amendments -                   46,613,964      32,194,474      14,419,490      

TOTAL General and Non-General Government Amendments 25,432             46,876,249      32,866,241      14,035,440      

Increase/(Decrease)

Increase/(Decrease)



 
 
 
 
 
 
ORDINANCE NO.   ________ 
 
An ORDINANCE approving the appropriations of the 2025 revised City of Everett Budget and amending 
Ordinance No. 4099-25. 
 
WHEREAS,  
 
The City Council has reviewed the amended budget appropriations and information which was made 
available; and approves the appropriation of local, state, and federal funds and the increase or decrease 
from previously approved programs within the 2025 Budget. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF EVERETT DOES ORDAIN: 
 
Section 1. Ordinance No. 4099-25 is hereby amended by the amendments shown on Attachment 
A, which is incorporated by reference.  The amendments shall be made to the 2025 Budget with a total 
increased expenditure appropriation of $32,866,241. 
 

 
 
Section 2. The City Clerk and the codifiers of this Ordinance are authorized to make necessary 
corrections to this Ordinance including, but not limited to, the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, 
references, ordinance numbering, section/subsection numbers, and any internal references. 
 
Section 3.  The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause or 
phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it 
would have passed all portions of this ordinance independent of the elimination of any such portion as 
may be declared invalid. 

Section 4.   The enactment of this Ordinance shall not affect any case, proceeding, appeal or other 
matter currently pending in any court or in any way modify any right or liability, civil or criminal, which 

Beginning Fund balance 
and 2025 Revenues

Expenditures Ending Fund Balance

2025 Amended Budget 981,067,420$                           688,045,929$                           293,021,491$                           

Budget Amendment #3 46,901,681                                32,866,241                                14,035,440                                

2025 Amended Budget 1,027,969,101$                       720,912,170$                           307,056,931$                           



ORDINANCE  Page 2 of 2 
 

may be in existence on the effective date of this Ordinance. 
 

 
            
            
      
Cassie Franklin, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Marista Jorve, City Clerk 
 
PASSED:      

VALID:       

PUBLISHED:      

EFFECTIVE DATE:     

 
 



 2025
Budget Adjustments

Tally Sheet

Department Code Rev Exp EFB
GGR-10 Emergency Management Emergency Management - Department of Ecology Grant 030R 25,432                
GGR-10 General Fund Emergency Management - Department of Ecology Grant 002R 25,432                          

Increase M&O expenditures - Emergency Management 030 5600000350 17,432                
Increase M&O expenditures - Emergency Management 030 5600000410 8,000                   
Increase beginning fund balance - General Fund 002 3080000000 25,432                

Department Rev Exp FB
GGA-8 General Fund Workforce Adjustments 002A 97,285                          
GGA-8 CPED Workforce Adjustments 021A 97,285                
GGA-8 Legal Workforce Adjustments 003A 100,000              
GGA-8 Non-Departmental Workforce Adjustments 009A (100,000)             

Increase transfers in revenues (SAMHSA) - General Fund 002 3970000155 97,285                
Increase labor expenditures - CPED 021 5027000110 73,700                
Increase labor expenditures - CPED 021 5027000210 23,585                
Increase labor expenditures - Legal 003 5100000110 55,000                
Increase labor expenditures - Legal 003 5100000210 45,000                
Reduce ending fund balance - Non-Departmental 009 5980000490 100,000              

This amendment proposes an increase in labor expenditures to fund staffing changes, including:

--Addition of 1.0 FTE Community Support Crisis Responder funded by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) grant
--Addition of 1.0 FTE Legal Administrator as part of succession planning and to support the indigent defense program
--Allocation for retirement payout in the Legal department

In 2024, the Emergency Management department received $49,000 from Washington State Department of Ecology's Spill Prevention, Preparedness, and Response 
Equipment grant program. This reappropriation carries forward $25,432 in unspent grant funds to be used in 2025.  

  



 2025
Budget Adjustments

Tally Sheet

Department Code Rev Exp FB
GGA-9 Non-Departmental Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset 009A 5,324,000           
GGA-9 General Fund Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset 002A 700,000                        
GGA-9 Police Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset 031A (3,359,000)         
GGA-9 Fire Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset 032A (600,000)             
GGA-9 Streets Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset 120A (400,000)                       (400,000)             
GGA-9 Engineering & Public Services Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset 024A (400,000)             
GGA-9 Parks & Community Services Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset 101A (300,000)                       (300,000)             
GGA-9 Information Technology Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset 015A (150,000)             
GGA-9 Municipal Court Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset 005A (75,000)               
GGA-9 Animal Services Distribution of Vacancy Budget Offset 026A (40,000)               

Adjust expenditures - Non-Departmental 009 multiple 5,624,000           300,000              
Reduce labor expenditures - Police 031 multiple 3,359,000           
Reduce labor expenditures - Fire 032 multiple 600,000              
Reduce labor expenditures - Streets 120 multiple 400,000              
Reduce labor expenditures - Engineering & Public Services 024 multiple 400,000              
Reduce labor expenditures - Parks & Community Services 101 multiple 300,000              
Reduce labor expenditures - Information Technology 015 multiple 150,000              
Reduce labor expenditures - Municipal Court 005 multiple 75,000                
Reduce labor expenditures - Animal Services 026 multiple 40,000                
Increase property tax distribution - General Fund 002 3111002000 700,000              
Reduce property tax distribution - Parks 101 3111010010 300,000              
Reduce property tax distribution - Streets 120 3111000000 400,000              

Department Code Rev Exp FB
GGA-10 Library Library - Internet Utilities 110A 5,650                            5,650                   
GGA-10 General Fund Library - Internet Utilities 002A (5,650)                           
GGA-10 Non-Departmental Library - Internet Utilities 009A (5,650)                 

Increase M&O expenditures - Library 110 5600000470 5,650                   
Increase property tax distribution - Library 110 3111010000 5,650                   
Reduce property tax distribution - General Fund 002 3111002000 5,650                   
Reduce ending fund balance - Non-Departmental 009 5980000490 5,650                   

This amendment increases the Library's M&O budget to cover the unexpected internet cost increase due to the delay of LibTech implementation. 

This amendment locks in department labor under expenditures in the amount of $5,624,000. Department budgets are reduced by this amount and allocated to the 
General Government Non-Departmental 009 to offset the 2025 budgeted labor under expenditure assumption. This follows our strategic, long-range financial practice to 
reduce the operating budget mid-year as a result of savings.

  



 2025
Budget Adjustments

Tally Sheet

Department Code Rev Exp FB
GGA-11 General Fund Indigent Defense Grant 002A 165,000                        
GGA-11 Legal Indigent Defense Grant 003A 165,000              

Increase state grant revenues - General Fund 002 3341120003 165,000              
Increase M&O expenditures - Legal 003 5250000410 165,000              

Department Code Rev Exp FB
GGA-12 Non-Departmental Interfund Transfer for Reservoir #3 Site Cleanup 009A 278,400              (278,400)             

Increase M&O expenditures - Non-Departmental 009 5000401550 278,400              
Reduce ending fund balance - Non-Departmental 009 5980000490 278,400              

Department Code Rev Exp FB
NGA-14 CIP-1 CIP-1 General Government Capital Projects 162A 277,000              (277,000)             

Increase M&O expenditures - CIP-1 162 5500000550 277,000              
Reduce ending fund balance - CIP-1 162 5500999490 277,000              

Department Code Rev Exp FB
NGA-15 Emergency Medical Services Fund Fire Training Center Project Design 153A 200,000              (200,000)             

Increase M&O expenditures - Emergency Medical Services Fund 153 5600000550 200,000              
Reduce ending fund balance - Emergency Medical Services Fund 153 5990000490 200,000              

This amendment increases the CIP 1 expenditure budget for the following projects:
--$100,000 Animal Shelter HVAC Controls Update as approved in Ordinance No. 4073-25
--$50,000 Downtown Restrooms Access Controls as approved in Ordinance No. 4081-25
--$127,000 Police Firing Range Renovations as approved in Ordinance No. 4094-25

This amendment increases the Emergency Medical Services Fund 153 M&O expenditure budget for the Fire Training Center Project as approved by Ordinance No. 
4066-25.

The City was awarded $165,000 from the Washington State Office of Public Defense. The award will be used to reimburse eligible expenses related to public defense 
services for indigent adults facing charges or under local ordinances involving allegations of possession or public use of a controlled substance, counterfeit substance, or 
legend drug. The grant period is July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2026. 

This amendment increases Non-Departmental Fund 009 M&O expenditures to reimburse the Water & Sewer Utility Fund 401 for the General Government's share of 
environmental remediation costs at Reservoir #3.

  



 2025
Budget Adjustments

Tally Sheet

Department Code Rev Exp FB
NGA-16 CIP-3 CIP-3 Parks Projects 154A 2,375,159           (2,375,159)         

Increase M&O expenditures - CIP-3 154 5354010550 2,375,159           
Reduce ending fund balance - CIP-3 154 5990000490 2,375,159           

Department Code Rev Exp FB
NGA-17 Debt Service Fund 2025 Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series A 210A 21,535,046                  21,535,046         
NGA-17 CIP-2 2025 Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series A 162A 16,796,610                  16,796,610         

Increase bond principal proceeds 210 3930281000 19,995,000         
Increase bond premium proceeds 210 3920281000 1,540,046           
Increase bond underwriter's discount 210 5120281890 483,237              
Increase bond issuance cost 210 5120281890 105,199              
Increase transfers-out Debt Service, EMB Tenant Improvement 210 5120281550 16,796,610         
Increase transfers-out Debt Service, Edgewater Bridge 210 5120281550 4,150,000           
Increase transfers-in CIP-2, EMB Tenant Improvement 162 3971050000 16,796,610         
Increase ending fund balance, EMB Tenant Improvement 162 5500999490 16,796,610         

Department Code Rev Exp FB
NGA-18 Debt Service Fund 2025 Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series B 210A 6,150,786                     6,150,786           

Increase bond principal proceeds 210 3930282000 5,780,000           
Increase bond premium proceeds 210 3920282000 370,786              
Increase bond underwriter's discount 210 5120282890 70,516                
Increase bond issuance cost 210 5120282890 30,410                
Increase transfers-out, Eclipse Mill Park 210 5120282550 4,400,000           
Increase transfers-out, Lowell Riverfront Trail 210 5120282550 1,649,860           

This amendment increases the CIP 3 expenditure budget for the following projects:
--$15,159 Edgewater Park Renovation as approved by Ordinance No. 4089-25
--$100,000 Thornton A. Sullivan Dock Repair Work as approved by Ordinance No. 4084-25
--$345,000 Drew Nielsen Playground Replacement as approved by Ordinance No. 4075-25
--$990,000 Parks Restroom Renovation as approved by Ordinance No. 4068-25
--$575,000 Lowell Park Playground Replacement as approved by Ordinance No. 4080-25
--$50,000 Forest Park Entry Driveway Repave as approved by Ordinance No. 4079-25
--$300,000 Park Restrooms Access Control as approved by Ordinance No. 4081-25

The City issued LTGO Bonds Series A to finance the Everett Municipal Building Tenant Improvement and Edgewater Bridge Replacement projects. The bonds were sold 
at auction on April 22, 2025. The true interest cost (TIC) on the new bonds is 4.43%. This amendment will provide the budget authority to account for the transaction 
and to transfer the bond proceeds to the designated projects as authorized by Ordinance No. 4082-25

The City issued LTGO Bonds Series B to finance the Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park and Lowell Riverfront Trail Improvement projects. The bonds were sold at auction on 
April 22, 2025. The true interest cost (TIC) on the new bonds is 4.37%. This amendment will provide the budget authority to account for this transaction as authorized by 
Ordinance No. 4082-25.

  



 2025
Budget Adjustments

Tally Sheet

Department Code Rev Exp FB
NGA-19 CIP-4 Adjustment to Reserve Balances 162A 213,873                        213,873              
NGA-19 Cum Res/Real Prop Acq Adjustment to Reserve Balances 145A 261,166                        261,166              

Increase beginning fund balance - CIP-4 162 3080062000 213,873              
Increase ending fund balance - CIP-4 162 5620999490 213,873              
Increase beginning fund balance - Cumulative Reserve for Real Property Acquisition Fund 145 145 3080000000 261,166              
Increase ending fund balance - Cumulative Reserve for Real Property Acquisition Fund 145 145 5980000000999 261,166              

Department Code Rev Exp FB
NGA-20 Fund for Animals Animal Reserve Grants and Donations 151A 115,903                        115,903              

Increase beginning fund balance - Fund for Animals 151 151 3080000000 12,500                
Increase donation - Fund for Animals 151 151 3670000000 103,403              
Increase M&O expenditures - Fund for Animals 151 151 5010000410 63,903                
Increase M&O expenditures - Fund for Animals 151 151 5010000350 10,000                
Increase M&O expenditures - Fund for Animals 151 151 5010000494 17,000                
Increase M&O expenditures - Fund for Animals 151 151 5010000550 25,000                

Department Code Rev Exp FB
NGA-21 Cumulative Reserve for Library Library Reserve Donation 152A 5,000                            5,000                   

Increase donation revenue - Library 152 3670000071 5,000                   
Increase M&O expenditures - Library 152 5710000494 5,000                   

Department Code Rev Exp FB
NGA-22 Health Benefits Reserve Health Benefits Cash Reserves 508A 1,535,580                     1,535,580           

Increase CDHP Transfer In 508 3970000200 1,535,580           
Increase HMA Legacy Transfer Out 508 5170000550 1,535,580           

This amendment increases the beginning balances for both CIP-4 and Cumulative Reserve for Real Property Acquisition funds. The 2025 beginning balances are higher 
than originally estimated in the adopted budget. This adjustment ensures the funds maintain positive ending balances. 

This amendment proposes to increase Fund for Animals expenditure budget for the following donations received and unspent in 2024 and 2025:         
--$53,903  ASPCA Behavior Grant 
--$20,000  Petco Love Grant 
--$25,000 Best Friends Animal Society
--$17,000 in Stripe credit card transaction fees for online donations. 

The Library received $5,000 donation from the Everett Woman's Book Club in 2025. This amendment increases the Library Reserve Fund's expenditure budget to utilize 
the revenue.

This amendment re-balances cash reserves between the HMA Legacy PPO and the HMA CDHP medical plans. Cash reserves are allocated to the two medical plans 
proportional to their participation. 

  



 

                                                                                                                                                                                

  

  

    

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Project title: Port Gardner Storage Facility - Project Labor Agreement  

Council Bill # interoffice use  
 

Project: Port Gardner Storage Facility (PGSF) Project Labor Agreement 

Partner/Supplier: 
NW Washington Building and Construction Trades Council 
Western States Regional Council of Carpenters 
Craft Unions & District Councils Signatory to this Agreement 

                    Location: 2200 West Marine View Drive 

Preceding action:  Funding Ordinance 4069-25  02/05/2025 
Professional Services Agreement with Intelligent Partnerships 10/09/2024 
 Fund: Fund 336 – Water & Sewer System Improvements 

Agenda dates requested:  
 
 

Briefing 
Proposed action 
Consent 
Action                        9/03/25 
Ordinance 
Public hearing 
 Yes      X No 
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes  X No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  X No 

 

Attachments: 
Project Labor Agreement 
 

Department(s) involved: 
Public Works, Admin 
 

Contact person: 
Ryan Sass 
 

Phone number: 
425.257-8942 
 

Email: 
rsass@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 
RLS 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

 

Fiscal summary statement:  
Funding for this Project Labor Agreement for the Port Gardner Storage Facility construction 
project (PGSF) is included in the programmed available funding of $150,800,000 for the PGSF 
construction project per Plans & Systems Ordinance No. 4069-25.  This includes the direct costs 
of administering the program under a Professional Services Agreement with Intelligent 
Partnerships, Inc. in the amount of $956,175. 

 

Project summary statement: 

The Port Gardner Storage Facility repurposes the former Kimberly Clark Wastewater Treatment 
plant to temporarily store combined sewage flows during wet weather to reduce and control 
Combined Sewer Overflows (CSOs).  The City is required to complete the project by the end of 
2027 under an Agreed Order with the Department of Ecology. 

Everett Public Works is currently working on two Project Labor Agreement programs.  This 
Project Labor Agreement (PLA) is the first one and will be used on the Port Gardner Storage 
Facility construction project.  The second PLA is for Phase 2 of the Reservoir 3 Replacement 
project.   

For each of the two PLAs, the projects selected are similar in size, scope, and complexity to other 
projects concurrently being accomplished using our regular processes.  This will allow for a direct 
comparison of results.  Public Works will prepare an analysis comparing the projects after 
completion of the two Project Labor Agreement programs which may inform future policy 
decisions. This Project Labor Agreement is in accordance with City Council Resolution #7461. 

 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 
Authorize the Mayor to sign the Project Labor Agreement for the Port Gardner Storage Facility. 

 

City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 

https://www.everettwa.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Item/17840?fileID=99336
https://www.everettwa.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Item/17419?fileID=97707
https://lfportal.everettwa.gov/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=1013308&searchid=87a14919-dee9-4e2e-be23-76b12282bf38&dbid=0


1 

PROJECT LABOR 

AGREEMENT FOR 

Port Gardner Storage Facility 

by and between 

The CITY OF EVERETT 

and 

NORTHWEST WASHINGTON 

BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL 

and the 

WESTERN STATES REGIONAL COUNCIL OF CARPENTERS 

and the 

CRAFT UNIONS & DISTRICT COUNCILS 

SIGNATORY TO THIS AGREEMENT 



2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

PREAMBLE ................................................................................................................................ 3 

ARTICLE 1 PURPOSE ........................................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 2 SCOPE AND DURATION OF AGREEMENT ....................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 3 UNION RECOGNITION, WAGES & BENEFITS ................................................... 6 

ARTICLE 4 HELMETS TO HARDHATS .................................................................................. 9 

ARTICLE 5 CONTINUITY OF WORK ................................................................................... 11 

ARTICLE 6 JURISDICTIONAL DISPUTES ........................................................................... 12 

ARTICLE 7 GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION ..................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE 8 SAFETY AND SANITATION ........................................................................................ 14 

ARTICLE 9 GENERAL SAFETY CLAUSE ............................................................................ 15 

ARTICLE 10  PRE-JOB CONFERENCE .................................................................................. 16 

ARTICLE 11  PRIORITY HIRE PROGRAM ............................................................................. 17 

ARTICLE 12  PREFERRED ENTRY PROGRAM ..................................................................... 18 

ARTICLE 13  PARKING ........................................................................................................... 19 

ARTICLE 14  ASSIGNMENT .................................................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE 15  ENTIRE UNDERSTANDING .............................................................................. 21 

EXHIBIT 1 - LETTER OF ASSENT ........................................................................................... 25 

EXHIBIT 2 - PRE-JOB CONFERENCE FORM .......................................................................... 26 

EXHIBIT 3 - PRIORITY HIRE ZIP CODES ................................................................................ 31 



3 

 

 

 

 

PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENT 

PREAMBLE 
 

 
This Agreement is entered into by and between the City of Everett, (“City” or the 
“Owner”), the Contractor selected for the covered project defined below, (hereinafter 
“General Contractor”) and the subcontractors (hereinafter “Subcontractors”) 
performing covered work as defined in Section 2.1 (the General Contractor and all 
Subcontractors collectively hereinafter “Employers” or “Contractors” and each an 
“Employer” or “Contractor”) for the construction of the Port Gardner Storage Facility 
Project in Everett, Washington (hereinafter “Project” or “covered project”) and the 
Northwest Washington Building and Construction Trades Council (“Council”), the 
Western States Regional Council of Carpenters and the Local Unions and District 
Councils signatory to this Agreement and having members employed on the project 
(collectively hereinafter “Unions”). This Agreement is referred to herein as 
“Agreement” or “PLA”. 

 

 
WHEREAS the General Contractor will enter into a public works contract with the City of 
Everett (the “Owner”) for the construction of the Port Gardner Storage Facility Project, in 
Everett, Washington. 

 
AND WHEREAS, the Employers and Unions (Collectively Hereinafter “Parties”), desire to ensure 
stable relations for the benefit of the Owner, the Project and the community: 

THERFORE, the Parties agree as follows: 



4 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 1 
PURPOSE 

 
1.1. The purpose of this Agreement is to ensure that all work on this Project shall 

proceed continuously and without interruption. 

1.2. It is the objective of the Parties that the construction of this Project will be a benefit 
to the Owner, the Employers, the Unions, and the community and it is recognized 
by all parties that harmonious labor-management relations are the result of 
responsible conduct by the Unions and the Employers employing building trades 
people, and it is our mutual desire to promote these relationships on this Project. 

 
1.3. The parties hereby agree and do establish and put into practice, as set forth in 

Articles 6 & 7, effective and binding methods for the settlement of all 

misunderstandings, disputes or grievances that may arise so that the parties are 

assured of complete continuity of operation, without slowdown or interruption and 

that labor-management peace is maintained for the life of this construction Project. 

 

 
1.4. The parties agree that this Agreement is a valid Section 8(f) pre-hire agreement 

within the meaning of Section 8(f) of the National Labor Relations Act, 29 U.S.C. 

§ 158(f). 
 

 
1.5. The Parties agree that all contractors, subcontractors, or other persons or entities 

performing covered work under this PLA and in accordance with RCW 39.12 will 

comply with and become a party to this Agreement by executing the Letter of 

Assent (EXHIBIT 1) attached hereto. The Parties further agree that the Employers 

will evaluate all proposals without regard to whether the submitting party is 

otherwise party to any collective bargaining agreements. 



5 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 2 
SCOPE AND DURATION OF AGREEMENT 

2.1. The applicability of this Agreement shall be limited to the Port Gardner Storage 
Facility Project. The Agreement will not obligate Employers performing work under 
this Agreement, to become signatory to any national or local area-wide master 
labor agreement. The Agreement does not extend to any of the Employer’s 
parents, partners, subsidiaries or affiliates. 

 
2.2. Except to the extent modified by this Agreement, the terms and conditions 

contained in the Unions’ Agreements, and their successor Agreements apply. Such 
does not apply to work performed under the National Cooling Tower Agreement, 
the National Stack Agreement, the National Transit Division Agreement (NTD), 
work within the jurisdiction of the International Union of Elevator Constructors, and 
all instrument calibration and loop checking work performed under the terms of the 
UA/IBEW Joint National agreement for Instrument and Control Systems 
Technicians. 

2.3. Work performed off-site, specifically and exclusively for the covered project shall 
be compensated at rates not less than the prevailing wage for the applicable 
classification in Snohomish County. 



6 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 3 
UNION RECOGNITION, UNION REFERRAL, 

HIRING PROCEDURES, and WAGES AND BENEFITS 

3.1. The Employers recognize the Union(s) as the sole and exclusive collective 
bargaining representative for craft workers, performing covered work on the 
Project. 

 
3.2. No worker covered by this PLA shall be required to join any Union or pay dues or 

dues equivalent as a condition of being employed on the Project. The Contractors 
agree to deduct Union dues or dues equivalent, whichever is applicable from the 
pay of any worker who executes a voluntary authorization for such deductions and 
to remit the dues to the Union or Council. 

3.3. For Local Unions having a job referral system, the General Contractor agrees to 
comply with such system, and it shall be used exclusively by the General 
Contractor and Employers. Such job referral system will be operated, as set forth 
herein, in a nondiscriminatory manner and in full compliance with federal, state, 
and local laws and regulations which require equal employment opportunities and 
nondiscrimination, and referrals shall not be affected by obligations of Union 
membership or the lack thereof. 

3.4. By Contractor or Subcontractor request, the Unions shall prioritize dispatch of 
Priority Hire Workers who are residents of Snohomish County. 

3.5. In consideration of the mutual desires of the General Contractor, City and the Union 
that all construction work proceeds efficiently and economically, that the Project 
attract and retain an adequate supply of skilled workers, and that labor standards, 
wages and working conditions of the workers be protected, the parties agree that: 

(a) All workers performing project work under this Agreement shall be classified 
in accordance with work performed as defined by RCW 39.12. Contractors 
of every tier recognize the Prevailing Wage for each craft that has been 
established by the Department of Labor & Industries at the time the General 
Contractor contract with City of Everett is executed. Once established, that 
Prevailing Wage shall remain in effect for the duration of the Project. 

Contractors will recognize all changes of wages and benefits on the 
effective date(s) in the individual craft local CBAs covering Snohomish 
County. If there are multiple craft local CBAs in Snohomish County, the CBA 
that prevailed at the time of Project contract award shall be the applicable 
CBA for purposes of wages and benefits. It is further agreed that any 
retroactive increases will be recognized provided it is part of the negotiated 
settlement. 

 
All wage increases required by this Section (3.5a) shall be made effective 
the first full pay period following the effective date of such increase in the 
applicable craft local collective bargaining agreement 



7 

 

 

 

 

(b) All Contractors shall make contributions in the amounts designated in the 
appropriate prevailing wage determination for fringe benefit contributions to 
each of the applicable Schedule A Funds and will make all worker- 
authorized deductions in the amounts designated. Such contributions shall 
be made in compliance with the applicable prevailing wage determination 
and shall be due and payable on the due date contained in the applicable 
Schedule A. Payment of cash in lieu of contributions shall not be permitted. 

(c) All Contractors adopt and agree to be bound by the written terms of the 
legally established trust agreements specifying the detailed basis on which 
payments are to be made into, and benefits paid out of, such Schedule A 
Funds. 

The Parties will work collaboratively with the relevant trust funds to explore 
options for providing flexibility or grace periods in cases where small 
contractors face delayed payment from the General contractor, with the goal 
of avoiding unnecessary penalties. 

3.6. The Parties recognize the Owner's commitment to provide opportunities to 
participate on Projects to Contractors and Subcontractors who may not have 
previously had a relationship with the Parties to this PLA. To ensure that such 
Contractors’ will have an opportunity to employ their Core workers on the Project(s), 
the Parties agree that a Contractor or Subcontractor that is not a party to a current 
CBA with any Union signatory to this Agreement, such Contractor, or its 
Subcontractor(s), may request by name, and the Local will honor, up to a maximum 
of five (5) designated Journey level Core workers. Each Contractor may request by 
name and have dispatched up to five (5) Core Workers, of whom at least two (2) may 
be registered apprentices from a state-approved apprenticeship program(s). 
Contractor(s) must first demonstrate that Journey level Core workers possess the 
following qualifications: 

1. Possess any license required by State or Federal law for the project work 

to be performed. 

2. Have worked a total of at least one thousand two hundred (1,200) hours in 

the construction craft over the last two (2) year period from the date of 

dispatch to the Covered Project. 

3. Were on the Contractor’s active payroll for at least sixty (60) out of the one 

hundred twenty (120) calendar days prior to the contract execution. 

4. Have the ability to perform safely the basic functions of the applicable trade. 

5. Contractors and Subcontractors within their first three years of business can 

exempt their Core Workers from the minimum hours and active payroll 

requirements as described in 1 & 2. Such Contractors or Subcontractors 

shall not have performed the Project contracted scope of work under any 

name or under a past or related license in Washington or any other State. 



8 

 

 

 

 

3.7. Core workers who meet the aforementioned qualifications will be dispatched as 
follows: The Contractor or any Subcontractor may request by name and the Union 
will honor by referral up to a maximum of five (5) designated Core workers on an 
alternating basis as follows with the Contractor or its Subcontractors selecting first: 

1. Core Worker 
2. Core Worker 
3. Union Worker 
4. Union Worker 
5. Core Worker 
6. Union Worker 
7. Core Worker 
8. Union Worker 
9. Core Worker 

3.8. All subsequent referrals will be through the respective Union Hiring Hall. 

1. Core workers of Contractors or Subcontractors which may not currently have 

had a relationship with the Unions signatory to this Agreement are also 

required to be dispatched from Union hiring halls. 

 
2. For the duration of the Contractors’ work, the ratio of Core workers to hiring 

hall referrals shall be maintained. When the Contractor’s workforce is 

reduced, reductions shall follow a “last in – first out” process regardless of 

union status. 

 
3. The Contractor and any of its Subcontractors attempting to circumvent the 

hiring provisions of this Agreement by misclassifying any of its workers as 

supervisors or foremen shall forfeit their right to employ Core workers on this 

project. 

 
4. No worker covered by this Agreement shall be required to join any Union as a 

condition of being employed on the Project. The Contractor agrees to deduct 

any applicable dues or representation fee from the pay of any worker who 

executes a voluntary authorization for such deductions and to remit the dues 

and fees to the Unions(s). 

 
3.9. Subject to the terms and conditions herein, to the extent the Contractor and its 

Subcontractors, despite reasonable efforts, including dispatch of workers within 48 
hours (excluding weekends and holidays), are unable to meet the objectives and 
requirements set forth in this Article through use of craft worker represented by any 
Union signatory, the Contractor and its Subcontractors shall be allowed to recruit 
from any other source and such recruits will have seven (7) days to register with the 
applicable Local Union. 



9 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 4 
HELMETS TO HARDHATS & APPRENTICESHIP 

 
4.1. The Employers and Unions recognize a desire to facilitate the entry into the building 

and construction trades of veterans and members of the National Guard and 
Reserves who are interested in careers in the building and construction industry. 
The Employers and Unions agree to utilize the services of the Center for Military 
Recruitment, Assessment and Veterans Employment (“Center”), a Joint Labor-
Management Cooperation Trust Fund, established under the authority of Section 
6(b) of the Labor-Management Cooperation Act of 1978, 29 U.S.C. Section 175(a), 
and Section 302(c)(9) of the Labor-Management Relations Act, 29 U.S.C. Section 
186(c)(9), and a charitable tax exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code, and the Center’s “Helmets to Hardhats” program to serve 
as a resource for preliminary orientation, assessment of construction aptitude, 
referral to apprenticeship programs or hiring halls, counseling and mentoring, 
support network, employment opportunities and other needs as identified by the 
parties. 

 
4.1.1. The Unions and Employers agree to coordinate with the Center to create 

and maintain an integrated database of veterans and members of the 
National Guard and Reserves interested in working on this Project and 
apprenticeship and employment opportunities for this Project. To the extent 
permitted by law, the Unions will give credit to such veterans and members 
of the National Guard and Reserves for bona fide, provable past experience. 

4.1.2. In recognition of the work of the Center and the value it will bring to the 
Project, within 10 days of the first hour of Covered Work being performed 
on the Project, the parties will encourage the General Contractor to make 
voluntary donations to the Center on behalf of itself and all other Employers 
employing workers under the terms of this Agreement. 

4.2 The Unions and Employers agree to promote apprenticeship work opportunities 
for local area residents and contractors in the building and construction trades on 
the Project. The parties recognize the importance of helping to build a local, 
diverse construction workforce in order to build a stronger and more vibrant 
community. Prior to all work on the Project, all Employers working on the Project, 
including the General Contractor and all Subcontractors of every tier, must sign a 
Letter of Affirmation confirming that: 1) the Employer participates in an 
Apprenticeship Program certified by the State of Washington , 2) the Employer will 
accept female apprentices, apprentices of color and military veteran apprentices 
prior to commencing work on the Project; and 3) the Employer will report to the 
Council the number of such apprentices and the hours worked by each apprentice 
on the Project. The Unions shall assist Employers in locating and supplying 
apprenticeship labor in each craft who will participate in training and on the job 
opportunities to increase the skills of the workforce in the local area. 



10 

 

 

 

 

4.3. The Owner shall establish a minimum Apprenticeship Utilization Requirement (AUR), 

with the goal of not less than fifteen percent (15%) of the total Project labor hours 

utilized per craft with sufficient hours to support work performed by Apprentices 

registered with the Washington State Apprenticeship Training Council (WSATC). 



11 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 5 
CONTINUITY OF THE WORK 

5.1. The principal purpose of this Agreement is that it provides the Employers, Unions, 
and the Owner with the assurance that there will be no strike, picketing, work 
stoppage, lockout or slowdown at the project site for the duration of this Agreement. 
It is agreed, therefore, as follows: 

5.2. During the existence of this Agreement, there shall be no strike, or work stoppage 
at the project site and there shall be no lockout by the Employers. It is agreed, 
however, that the Employers may lay off workers for lack of work or in the event 
that a strike, picketing or other work stoppage impedes the work of the Project. 

5.3. No picket lines or other actions of the type described in section 5.2 will be 
established at the Project by any of the Unions. The Unions agree that they will not 
sanction in any way any picket line, organized or endorsed and will affirmatively 
take all measures necessary to effectively induce its members to cross the picket 
line and report for work as scheduled and that responsible representatives of the 
Unions who are employed on the Project will also do so themselves. 

 
5.4. Notwithstanding the provisions of section 5.2, it is agreed that the particular Union 

involved retains the right to withhold the services of its members (but not a right to 
picket) from an Employer who fails to timely pay its regular payroll or who fails to 
make timely payments to the Unions' Health & Welfare, Pension, Vacation and 
Holiday, Apprentice and Training, or Industry Funds in accordance with the 
provisions of the Master Labor Agreement that is applicable to the Employer’s 
workers. However, prior to withholding its members' services on account of a 
failure to make timely payments to the Unions' Health & Welfare, Pension, 
Vacation and Holiday, Apprentice and Training, or Industry Funds, the Union 
involved will give fifteen (15) days written notice of such failure by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, to the involved Employer and the General 
Contractor. Representatives of the parties to the dispute will meet within this period 
to attempt to resolve the dispute. 

5.5. It is specifically agreed that there shall be no strike, picketing, work stoppage, 
lockout or slowdown at the site of the project as a result of the expiration of any 
local, regional or other applicable Master Labor Agreement having application at 
the Project and/or the failure of the parties to that Master Labor Agreement to reach 
a new contract. 



12 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 6 
JURISDICTIONAL DISPUTES 

6.1. The assignment of work will be the responsibility of the Employer performing the 
work involved, and such work assignments will be in accordance with the Plan for 
the Settlement of Jurisdictional Disputes in the Construction Industry (the "Plan") 
or any successor Plan. 

6.2. All jurisdictional disputes between Unions signatory to the Agreement and 
Employers shall be settled and adjusted according to the present Plan established 
by the Building and Construction Trades Department or any other plan or method 
of procedure that may be adopted in the future by the Building and Construction 
Trades Department. Decisions rendered shall be final, binding and conclusive on 
the Employers and Unions. 

6.3. All jurisdictional disputes shall be resolved without the occurrence of any strike, 
work stoppage, or slow-down of any nature and the Employer's assignment shall 
be adhered to until the dispute is resolved. Workers violating this section shall be 
subject to immediate discharge. 



13 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 7 
GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE 

 
7.1. The parties hereby agree that all disputes or grievances between Employers and 

Unions, other than disputes arising from any strike, picketing, slowdown, lockout 
or other work stoppages of any kind under Article 5 or any jurisdictional disputes 
under Article 6, shall be handled in accordance with the following procedures: 

7.2. Step 1. If there is a dispute or grievance, the parties shall first attempt to settle the 
matter by oral discussion no later than ten (10) business days after the occurrence, 
first giving rise to the dispute or grievance. The requirement to settle the matter 
within (10) days will commence upon notice being provided to the Employer. If the 
matter is not resolved within ten (10) business days after the oral discussion, the 
dispute or grievance shall be reduced to writing. 

7.3. Step 2. If the matter is not resolved in Step 1, the written grievance shall be 
provided to the other party with a copy given to the General Contractor no later 
than ten (10) business days after the Step 1 oral discussion. The parties shall meet 
to try to settle the matter within ten (10) business days of the written grievance. 

7.4. In the event a dispute cannot be satisfactorily resolved at Step 2, either party may 
submit the dispute to arbitration by written notice within ten (10) business days (or 
such longer time as mutually agreed) of the Step 2 meeting. An arbitrator shall be 
selected from a list of seven (7) arbitrators from the Federal Mediation and 
Conciliation Service. The responding party shall strike one of the arbitrators from 
the list, and the grieving party shall strike the next arbitrator from the list, until one 
arbitrator is left, who shall hear the case. The arbitrator's decision shall be final and 
binding upon the parties. The arbitrator shall not have the authority to alter, amend, 
add to, or delete from the provisions of this Agreement in any way. The fees and 
expenses incurred by the arbitrator, as well as those jointly utilized by the parties 
(i.e. conference room, court reporter, etc.) in arbitration, shall be divided equally by 
the parties to arbitration. Should any party seek confirmation of the award made by 
the arbitrator, the prevailing party shall be entitled to receive its reasonable 
attorney fees and costs. 

7.5. Absent a written extension, the failure to timely raise, file or appeal any grievance 
within the time limits set forth above will result in the grievance being waived. 



14 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 8 
SAFETY AND SANITATION 

 
8.1. All Federal and State safety rules, regulations, orders, and decisions shall be 

binding upon the Employers and shall be applied to all work covered by this 
Agreement. 

8.2. It will not be a violation of this Agreement, if an Employer considers it necessary 
to shut down to avoid the possible loss of human life, because of an emergency 
that could endanger the life and safety of a worker. In such cases, workers will be 
compensated only for the actual time worked. In the case of a situation described 
above whereby the Employer requests workers to stand by, the workers will be 
compensated for the "stand by time." 

8.3. Separate toilet facilities, with access to running water for handwashing, and 
handwashing stations shall be provided close to the site of work and in equally 
accessible locations for both men and women. The facilities shall be clearly 
marked “Men” and “Women.” The Women facilities shall have a lock on the 
outside, with keys provided to women for access. All facilities shall be cleaned at 
least once daily and shall be examined prior to the start of each shift to ensure they 
are clean and that sanitary toilet paper, soap, and paper towels are stocked. The 
Women facilities shall maintain a supply of appropriate hygiene products for 
women. 



15 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 9 
GENERAL SAVING CLAUSE 

 
9.1. It is not the intention of the parties hereto to violate the laws governing the subject 

matter of this Agreement. The parties hereto agree that in the event any provisions 
of this Agreement are finally held or determined to be illegal or void as being in 
contravention of any applicable law, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain 
in force and effect unless the part so found to be void is wholly inseparable from 
the remaining portions of this Agreement. 

9.2. Further, all parties agree that if and when any or all provisions of this Agreement 
are finally held or determined to be illegal or void by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, an effort will be made to then promptly enter into negotiations 
concerning the substance affected by such decision for the purpose of achieving 
conformity with the requirements of any applicable law and the intent of the parties 
hereto. 



16 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 10 
PRE-JOB CONFERENCE 

10.1. The General Contractor will conduct a pre-job conference with the Union(s), the 
Council and all other Employers prior to commencing work. The General 
Contractor shall notify the Council of all Employers that have been awarded project 
work ten (10) working days in advance of all such conferences and each such 
Employer shall participate in such conferences. One week after the pre-job 
conference and prior to starting work, the General Contractor and all Employers 
shall submit a final trade assignment. All work assignments shall be disclosed by 
each Employer at the pre-job conference and such assignments shall be made in 
accordance with industry practice. Should additional project work not previously 
included within the scope of the project work be added, the Employer performing 
such work will conduct a separate pre-job for such newly included work. 

10.2. Employers who have performed or are performing work on any other regional PLA 
or CWA projects may be eligible for a waiver of the pre-job conference. Waivers 
requests must be submitted to the Council a minimum of three weeks prior to the 
start of work. If the waiver is denied, the Employer is required to attend a pre-job 
conference prior to starting work according to the process stated above. 



17 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 11 
PRIORITY HIRE PROGRAM 

11.1. The Owner has project specific Priority Hire requirements for the Covered Project 
(Priority Hire Program) that directs the Contractor and Subcontractors to prioritize 
utilization of qualified and competent workers from Snohomish County (“Priority Hire 
Workers”). The Priority Hire Program for Project is designed to prioritize the 
recruitment and placement of economically disadvantaged local workers on the 
Project. The Program is intended to help address construction workforce 
shortages, and improve the well-being of individuals who live locally in Snohomish 
County, while focusing on participation by Apprentices and Journey level 
construction workers who have been historically underrepresented in the 
construction industry. 

11.2. The first month following issue of the notice to proceed and until the General 
Contractor obtains written final acceptance from the Owner, the General 
Contractor shall submit a monthly report for itself and all Subcontractors and 
suppliers to the Administrator. The General Contractor must report on meeting the 
requirements of Article 11, and the Construction Contracts in a certified payroll 
tracking system that meets industry standards and is approved by the Owner. 

Contractors and Subcontractors must also report on worker demographics and 
other pertinent information requested by the Owner. 

11.3. The Contractor’s failure to allow adequate time to comply with the requirements 
and processes of the Agreement including Priority Hire are non-excusable delays. 
When a Contractor is not in compliance with the Priority Hire requirements, they 
must submit documentation to the Owner that supports its best efforts for meeting 
Priority Hire requirements and an action plan detailing methods and/or steps to be 
taken to achieve said requirements. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



18 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 12 
PREFERRED ENTRY PROGRAM 

12.1. The City supports the development of a skilled construction workforce through 
appropriate Apprenticeship and Training Organizations, particularly for Priority 
Hire Workers and others facing significant employment barriers. The City also 
supports Pre-Apprenticeship programs in their goals to assist workers with 
particular barriers. 

12.2. The Parties agree to construct and expand pathways to family wage jobs and 
careers in the construction industry for community residents through collaborative 
workforce development systems involving community-based training providers and 
WSATC registered apprenticeship programs. The purpose of this program is to 
facilitate a workforce reflective of the diversity of the City’s population. 

12.3. The Preferred Entry program, as defined by this Agreement will identify individuals 
from Snohomish County ZIP codes, who are compliant with the entry standards for 
WSATC Apprenticeship programs that allow for preferred entry of qualified 
applicants into their programs. Preferred Entry Candidates shall be placed with 
Contractors working on the project in accordance with each Union’s dispatch 
procedures and JATC rules. The Parties recognize Preferred Entry Candidates as 
individuals that have completed a Washington State recognized pre-apprenticeship 
program and been accepted into a WSATC Apprenticeship program until they 
reach journey level status. The purpose of this program is to facilitate a workforce 
reflective of the population of the City, supporting goals of workforce inclusiveness. 

12.4 Overall, the Contractor must demonstrate that twenty percent (20%) of all 
Apprentice labor hours be performed by Preferred Entry Apprentices and shall 
come from a WSATC recognized Pre-Apprenticeship Program or other mutually 
agreed-upon programs that serve people living in Snohomish County ZIP codes. It 
is a goal that each Preferred Entry Apprentices be employed a minimum of 350 
hours on the covered project. Contractors shall make good faith efforts or best 
efforts to achieve the minimum goal of 350 hours for Preferred Entry and will be 
reviewed at the Project Administrative Committee (PAC) meeting. 

 
12.5 Contractors agree to hire Preferred Entry Apprentices as early as possible in the 

Project. If Preferred Entry Apprentices are available, proceed with the hiring 
process, as described in Article 3, and provide appropriate documentation to the 
Administrator. The hours worked by eligible Preferred Entry qualified Apprentices 
hired from Snohomish County ZIP codes will count towards the Contractors’ 
accomplishment of the Priority Hire Worker requirements. 



19 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE 13 
PARKING 

13.1 Craft worker parking in a secure lot for the project shall be designated by each 
Employer, which shall be made available at no cost for workers who are employed 
at the jobsite. Parking lots shall be maintained in accordance with applicable laws 
for safety and security. 



20 

ARTICLE 14 
ASSIGNMENT 

14.1 The City will provide project oversight and administration and enforcement of this 
Agreement, through a third-party administrator. Oversight and administration of 
this Agreement shall be conducted by a mutually agreed upon Third Party 
Administrator selected by the City. Intelligent Partnerships, Inc. has been selected 
by the City and mutually agreed upon to perform oversight and administration of 
this agreement. 

14.2 The parties to this Agreement recognize the necessity of cooperation, 
communication and the elimination of disputes and misunderstandings. To this end 
the parties agree that a Project Administrative Committee (PAC) shall be 
established to address apprenticeship utilization, diversity, job progress, safety 
and any other relevant issues that will affect the project and promote harmonious 
and stable labor/management relations. Further, the General Contractor shall 
provide the Council with a full list of scopes and subcontractors as early as possible 
after project award and update the list as subcontractors are secured for the 
project. 

The PAC shall be comprised of the PLA Administrator and the GC’s 
representatives, representatives of the Unions party to the Agreement, a 
representative of the Council and a representative from the NW Carpenters who 
shall meet at the Council’s offices according to a mutually agreeable quarterly 
schedule, however this may be modified by mutual agreement of the parties. The 
PLA Administrator shall facilitate and provide reports of apprenticeship utilization 
and diversity on the project to the PAC. 



21 

ARTICLE 15 
ENTIRE UNDERSTANDING 

15.1 The parties agree that the total results of their bargaining are embodied in this 
Agreement and neither party is required to render any performance not set forth in 
the working of this Agreement, or to bargain during the term of this Agreement 
about any matters unless required to do so by the terms of this Agreement. This 
Agreement may be amended only by written agreement signed by the parties. 



22  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF,the partieshave causedthis Agreement to be executedand 
effective as of the day  and year  . 

The officials signing this Agreement warrant and collectively bargain on behalf of the 
organizations whom they represent and the members of such organizations. 

 
Owner: City of Everett 

 
Signature:   

Cassie Franklin 
Mayor 

Date:   
 
 

 
UNIONS: 
Northwest Building & Construction Trades Council, AFL-CIO 

 
Signature: Andrew Vander Stoep (Jul 18, 2025 13:33 PDT)  

Andrew VanderStoop 
Executive Secretary 

Date: Jul 21, 2025 

 
Western States Regional Council of Carpenters 

 Antonio Acosta 
Signature: Antonio Acosta (Jul 21, 2025 15:54 PDT) 

 
 

Antonio Acosta 
Regional Manager 



Bryan Johnson (Jul 29, 2025 12:20:50 PDT) Todd F. Taylor (Jul 29, 2025 14:07:39 PDT) 

Heat & Frost Insulators & BAC Local 1 Washington/Alaska 
Allied Workers Local 7 

Signature: todd mitchell (Jul 21, 2025 19:16 EDT) Signature: 

Todd Mitchell 
Business Manager 

Lowell Glodowski 
Business Manager 

Boilermakers Local 502 Cement Masons & Plasterers Local 528 

 Tracey Eixenberger 
Signature: Tracey Eixenberger (Jul 23, 2025 14:01:24 PDT) Signature: 

 Eric Coffelt 
Eric Coffelt (Jul 29, 2025 12:40:17 PDT) 

Tracey Eixenberger 
Business Manager 

Eric Coffelt 
Business Manager 

IBEW Local 191 Operating Engineers Local 302 

 Randy Curry 
Randy Curry (Jul 29, 2025 12:05:49 PDT) 

Randy Curry 
Business Manager 

Signature: 
 

Tony zempel (Jul 29, 2025 13:47:30 PDT) 
 

Tony Zemple 
Business Agent 

Elevator Constructors Local 19 IUPAT District Council 5 

 Lindsay LaBrosse 
Lindsay LaBrosse (Jul 30, 2025 14:42:15 PDT) Signature: 

Lindsay LaBrosse 
Business Agent 

Anthony Thompson 
Business Manager 

Iron Workers Local 86 UA Plumbers & Pipefitters Local 26 

 Bryan Johnson 
Signature: Signature:  Todd F. Taylor

Bryan Johnson 
President/Business Agent 

Todd Taylor 
Business Manager 

LUINA Local 292 Roofers Local 54 

Signature: Charles Burgess (Jul 29, 2025 12:21:51 PDT) Signature: Eddy Ramos (Jul 29, 2025 14:15:34 PDT) 

Charles Burgess Dave Bensen 
Deputy Trustee 

23 
Business Manager 

Signature: 

Signature: 



Sheet Metal Workers Local 66 Sprinkler Fitters Local 699 
 

 Scott Peterson 
Signature: Devin Leingang (Jul 29, 2025 14:38:33 PDT) Signature: Scott Peterson (Jul 30, 2025 13:44:46 PDT) 

 

Devin Leingang 
Regional Manager 

Teamsters Local 38 
 

 Samantha Kantak 
Signature: Samantha Kantak (Jul 30, 2025 12:25:33 PDT) 

Scott Peterson 
Business Manager 

 

Samantha Kantak 
Business Manager 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
24 



25



26



27



28



Core Employee

Contractor(s) or Sub Contractor(s) employing Core Employees must complete the following documentation.   
Core Employee(s) must place their names with the respective Union Hall dispatch prior to the employee(s) start of work. 

Core employee information provided by 

Email Address 

Core employee information verified by 

Core Employee #1 

Employee Name: Hire Date: 

Classification: 

The employee has met the qualifications contained in the CWA/PLA Yes No 

Core Employee #2 

Employee Name: Hire Date: 

Classification: 

The employee has met the qualifications contained in the CWA/PLA Yes No 

Core Employee #3 

Employee Name: Hire Date: 

Classification: 

The employee has met the qualifications contained in the CWA/PLA Yes No 

Core Apprentice #1 (if eligible) 

Employee Name: Hire Date: 

Apprentice ID# Classification: 

Zip Code: 

The employee has met the qualifications contained in the CWA/PLA Yes No 

Core Apprentice #2 (if eligible) 

Employee Name: Hire Date: 

Apprentice ID# Classification: 

Zip Code: 

The employee has met the qualifications contained in the CWA/PLA Yes No 

Form completed by

print name date Signature

29
4 of 4



30



 

EXHIBIT 3 

Priority Hire:  ALL of Snohomish County 

31



                                                                                                                                                                                

   City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Project title: 2025-26 Registered Sex Offender Address & Residency Verification Program  

Council Bill # interoffice use  
 

Project: RSO Address & Residency Verification 

Partner/Supplier: Snohomish County  

                    Location: City of Everett  

Preceding action:  N/A 

Fund: 031/ Police, 156/ Criminal Justice 

Agenda dates requested:  
 

Briefing 
Proposed action 
Consent 
Action               09/3/25 
Ordinance 
Public hearing 
 Yes  x No 
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes  x No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  x No 

 

Attachments: 
Agreement 
 

Department(s) involved: 
Police, Legal 
 

Contact person: 
Robert Goetz 
 

Phone number: 
425-257-8461 
 

Email: 
Rgoetz@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 
JD 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement:  

This agreement will allow for one (1) detective from the Everett Police Department to 
remain assigned to the multi-jurisdictional, regional, task force to perform the address 
and residency verifications of registered sex offenders and kidnapping offenders.  The 
Snohomish County will reimburse the City of Everett $101,000 for the detective position 
for the term of July 1, 2025, through June 30, 2026.   

 
Project summary statement: 

The State of Washington directs funding to the Washington Association of Sheriffs and 
Police Chiefs to provide grants to local agencies to verify the addresses and residency of 
all registered sex offenders and kidnapping offenders.  Snohomish County Sheriff’s 
Office has created a task force to coordinate these activities and will reimburse a total of 
$101,000 to the City of Everett to have one full-time detective assigned to this Task 
Force. 

 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 

Authorize the Mayor to sign all necessary documents and agreements with Snohomish 
County regarding the sex offender address and residency verification program services, 
allowing the Everett Police Department to accept and utilize the funds in the amount of 
$101,000. 

 



RSO Interlocal Agreement with Everett 2025-2026         Page 1 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT  
BETWEEN SNOHOMISH COUNTY & THE CITY OF EVERETT  

FOR SEX OFFENDER ADDRESS & RESIDENCY VERIFICATION 
PROGRAM SERVICES 

This Interlocal Agreement Between Snohomish County and the City of Everett for Sex 

Offender Address and Residency Verification Program Services (the “Agreement”), is entered 

into by and between Snohomish County, a political subdivision of the State of Washington 

(hereinafter referred to as the “County”), and the City of Everett, a municipal corporation of the 

State of Washington (hereinafter referred to as the “City”). 

RECITALS

A. The Washington Association of Sheriffs and Police Chiefs (“WASPC”) has received funds 

from the State of Washington to provide grants to local units of government to verify the 

address and residency of all registered sex offenders and kidnapping offenders under RCW 

9A.44.130; and 

B. Snohomish County, through its Sheriff’s Office (“SCSO”), and WASPC entered into an 

Interagency Agreement dated July 1, 2025 (hereinafter “Grant Contract”), whereby the 

County has agreed to use specified grant funds (hereinafter “Grant Funds”) to create and 

operate a multi-jurisdictional, regional, task force (hereinafter the “Task Force”) to 

coordinate selected law enforcement activities, resources, and functions to contact and 

verify the address and residency of sex offenders and kidnapping offenders within 

incorporated and unincorporated areas of Snohomish County; and

C. Chapter 39.34 RCW permits one or more public agencies to contract with any one or more 

public agency to perform any governmental service, activity, or undertaking that each 

public agency is authorized by law to perform; and  

D. The City is authorized to perform each service contemplated herein; and

E. The City desires to participate as a member of the Task Force, with Snohomish County 

administering task force Grant Funds, pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in this 

Agreement



RSO Interlocal Agreement with Everett 2025-2026         Page 2 

AGREEMENT

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants, conditions, performances, and 

promises contained herein, the parties agree as follows: 

1.0 TASK FORCE COMPOSITION, PURPOSE, AND TERM

1.1 The Task Force will be composed of law enforcement and prosecutor personnel.  

Its purpose is to coordinate selected law enforcement activities, resources, and 

functions to contact and verify the address and residency of sex offenders and 

kidnapping offenders within incorporated and unincorporated areas of Snohomish 

County.  

1.2 Notwithstanding the Effective Date, this Agreement shall govern each party’s 

participation in the Task Force beginning July 1, 2025, and continuing through June 

30, 2026, unless earlier terminated or modified as provided in this Agreement. As 

provided by RCW 39.34.040, this Agreement shall not take effect unless and until 

it has (i) been duly executed by both parties, and (ii) either filed with the County 

Auditor or posted on the County’s Interlocal Agreements website (“Effective 

Date”).   

 

2.0 ORGANIZATION 

2.1 The County is the administrator of this Agreement. 

2.2  The Snohomish County Sheriff’s Office Violent Offender Task Force Sergeant 

will direct all law enforcement personnel assigned to the Task Force under this 

Agreement or similarly executed agreements, in their operational duties.  

2.3 The County will provide office space, including a workstation, telephone and office 

supplies for use by the City Officer. 

2.4 Except as provided in Section 3.1, nothing in this Agreement shall restrict the 

ability of the County or the City to reassign personnel and related equipment and 

supplies assigned under this Agreement. 

 

 



RSO Interlocal Agreement with Everett 2025-2026         Page 3 

 

3.0 OBLIGATIONS OF CITY

3.1 During the term of this Agreement, the City shall employ, dedicate and assign city 

police officers (“City Officer”) to participate in Task Force activities on an as 

available basis.  

3.2 When a City Officer is participating in Task Force activities, his or her operational 

assignments will be directed by the Snohomish County Sheriff’s Office Violent 

Offender Task Force Sergeant. 

3.3 Any City Officer participating in Task Force activities pursuant to this Agreement 

shall remain subject to the policies, procedures and directives of the City. 

3.4 The City agrees to make any certified assurances required by the Agreement that 

are within its particular control, and agrees to make all its records related to the 

Task Force available for inspection consistent with the Agreement and applicable 

state and federal laws. 

 

4.0 BUDGET AND COMPENSATION 

4.1 The County, through its Sheriff’s Office, shall serve as the fiscal agent and manage 

Grant Funds, including reimbursement to participating jurisdictions.  All revenues 

collected or generated by or for the Task Force shall be maintained by the County 

pursuant to law.   

4.2 The County will reimburse the City up to one hundred and one thousand dollars

and no cents ($101,000.00).

4.3 The City will send monthly invoices to the County detailing the direct cost per hour, 

and number of hours a City Officer participated in Task Force activities. A monthly 

invoice may not exceed $8,417.00 (8.3% of the total annual reimbursement). The 

City is only entitled to reimbursement for the hours, including authorized overtime, 

when a City Officer is dedicated, assigned, and participating in Task Force 

activities. 



RSO Interlocal Agreement with Everett 2025-2026         Page 4 

4.4 The County will make payments within thirty (30) days from receipt of the monthly

invoice. Invoices shall be sent to Snohomish County Sheriff’s Office, Fiscal 

Division, 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S 606, Everett, WA 98201. 

5.0 GENERAL ADMINISTRATION

5.1 The County agrees to provide WASPC with the necessary documentation to receive 

Grant Funds.

5.2 Any factual dispute between the County and the City that relates to this Agreement 

shall be referred for resolution to the Sheriff, or his/her designee, and the City’s 

Mayor, or his/her designee.  In the event the dispute cannot be resolved between 

the parties to each party’s mutual satisfaction, the issue shall be submitted to 

mediation through the Snohomish County Dispute Resolution Center. Both parties 

agree to utilize this process prior to the institution of any legal action to enforce the 

terms and conditions of this agreement. The cost of mediation shall be borne 

equally by the parties. 

5.3 The City shall provide the maximum opportunity to Minority and Women Owed 

Business Enterprises to participate in the performance of this Agreement. 

 

6.0 REAL AND PERSONAL PROPERTY 

All real or personal property acquired through Grant Funds or activities of the Task Force 

will be held by the County. 

 

7.0 ACQUISITION AND USE OF EQUIPMENT 

7.1 All equipment purchased with Grant Funds by the County will be held by the 

County.  

7.2 All equipment purchased with Grant Funds by the City will be held by the City  

7.3 Any equipment purchased with Grant Funds will only be used as permitted by the 

terms of the Grant Contract. 



RSO Interlocal Agreement with Everett 2025-2026         Page 5 

7.4 Upon termination of this Agreement, any equipment purchased or otherwise 

provided by the City will be returned to the City unless otherwise agreed by the 

parties.

7.5 Upon termination of this Agreement, the County will dispose of all acquired 

equipment in accordance with applicable federal, state and county requirements.

8.0 MODIFICATION

Each party reserves the right to amend this Agreement in the future from time to time as 

may be mutually agreed upon.  No such amendment shall be effective unless written and 

signed with the same formality as this Agreement.

9.0 TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

Notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreement, either party may terminate this

Agreement by providing written notice of such termination specifying the effective date 

thereof at least thirty (30) days prior to such date.  The terminating party may take with it 

any equipment it has loaned or donated to the Task Force. 

 

10.0 HOLD HARMLESS 

10.1   The County shall save, hold harmless, indemnify and defend the City, its elected 

and appointed officials, officers, employees and agents, from and against any loss 

or claim for damages of any nature whatsoever, including claims by third parties or 

County employees against which it would otherwise be immune under Title 51 

RCW or other law, arising out of any act or omission of the County in performance 

of this Agreement, its elected or appointed officials, officers, employees or agents, 

except to the extent the loss or claim is attributable  to the negligence or willful 

misconduct of the City, its elected or appointed officials, officers, employees or 

agents.  

 

10.2 The City shall save, hold harmless, indemnify and defend the County and WASPC, 

its elected and appointed officials, officers, employees and agents from and against 



RSO Interlocal Agreement with Everett 2025-2026         Page 6 

any loss or claim for damages of any nature whatsoever, including claims by third 

parties or the City employees against which it would otherwise be immune under 

Title 51 RCW or other law, arising out of any act or omission of the City in 

performance of this Agreement, its elected or appointed officials, officers, 

employees or agents, except to the extent the loss or claim is attributable to the 

negligence or willful misconduct of the County, its elected or appointed officials, 

officers, employees or agents.

11.0 GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE

This Agreement shall be governed by, construed, and enforced in accordance with the laws 

of the State of Washington without reference to choice of law principles, and venue of any 

suit between the parties arising out of this Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of 

Snohomish County, Washington. 

 

12.0 INTEGRATION 

This Agreement constitutes the whole and entire agreement among the parties as to the 

Task Force and no other understandings, oral, or otherwise, regarding the Task Force shall 

be deemed to exist or bind the parties.

 

13.0 SEVERABILITY 

If any part of this Agreement is unenforceable for any reason the remainder of the 

agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

  



RSO Interlocal Agreement with Everett 2025-2026         Page 7 

 

 

Dated this _____ day of ________________, 2025. 

“County”       “City”
SNOHOMISH COUNTY CITY OF EVERETT 
 
 
__________________________   _____________________________ 
County Executive Date    City Mayor    Date 
 
 
By   By ________________________ 
Susanna Johnson, Sheriff  City Clerk 

Dated:                Dated:  

Approved as to form only:    Approved as to form only: 

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney    City Attorney 
 
 
Reviewed by Risk Management 
 
 

Risk Manager   



              
   City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 

                                                                                                                                                                                
 

 

 

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Project title: 
 
An Ordinance Creating a Special Improvement Project Entitled “Municipal Court Access Control Installation 
Project”, Fund 342, Program 053 to Accumulate All Costs for the Project 

Council Bill #  
CB 2508-45 

Project: Municipal Court Access Control Project 

Partner/Supplier:   Everon 

                    Location:  

     Preceding action:  None 

Fund: Fund 342, Program 053 (CIP-1) 

Agenda dates requested: 
 
 

Briefing                      
Proposed Action     8/20/25 
Proposed Action     8/27/25 
Consent                    
Action                       9/03/25 
Ordinance             X 
Public hearing 
 Yes      X No 
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes  X No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  X No 

 

Attachments: 
Funding Ordinance 
 

Department(s) involved: 
Parks & Facilities 
Administration 
 
 

Contact person: 
Scott Pattison 
 

Phone number: 
425-257-8335 
 

Email: 
spattison@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 
       LC 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement:  
 
The proposed Ordinance will provide funding for the design and implementation of 
access control systems for the Municipal Court. The sources of the funds for the project 
are Fund 342 Program 053 (CIP-1). Total cost for the project is estimated at $50,000. 
This project will be procured using State Contract No. 24223/NV23-16251 procurement 
method. 
 
 
Project summary statement:  
 
The City of Everett intends to improve access security and install three (3) access-
controlled doors. Contractor will provide materials and equipment to improve access 
control. 
 
 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 
Adopt an Ordinance creating a Special Improvement Project entitled “Municipal Court 
Access Control Installation Project”, Fund 342, Program 053 to accumulate all costs for 
the project. 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
ORDINANCE NO. __________ 
 
An Ordinance creating a special improvement project entitled “Municipal Court Access Control 
Installation Project”, Fund 342, Program 053 to accumulate all costs for the project. 
 
WHEREAS,  
 

A. The City Council recognizes the need to implement access control systems throughout the Everett 
Municipal Court Facility. 

 
B. The City Council recognizes the need for access control measures for public Facilities. 

 
C. The City Council recognizes the need to update and maintain public access to public facilities. 

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF EVERETT DOES ORDAIN: 
 
Section 1.  A special improvement project is hereby established as Fund 342 Program 053 and shall be 
entitled “Municipal Court Access Control Installation Project” to accumulate all costs for the project. 
 
Section 2.  Authorization is hereby given to accumulate costs and distribute payments from Fund 342, 
Program 053 for the special improvement project. 
 
Section 3.  Authorization is hereby granted to the Parks and Facilities Director, under the direction of the 
Mayor, to assume full and complete responsibility for conducting all tasks and all necessary steps to 
accomplish the actions authorized in this ordinance.   

Section 4.  The sum of $50,000.00 is hereby appropriated to Fund 342, Program 053, “Municipal Court 
Access Control Installation Project” as follows: 
 

A. Use of Funds 
Improvements      $50,000 
Total        $50,000 
 

B. Source of Funds 
Fund 342, Program 053 (CIP-1)   $50,000 
Total        $50,000 
 
 

 



2025 ORDINANCE: Municipal Court Access Control Installation Project 
Page 2 of 2 

 

Section 5.  The City Clerk and the codifiers of this Ordinance are authorized to make necessary 
corrections to this Ordinance including, but not limited to, the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, 
references, ordinance numbering, section/subsection numbers, and any internal references. 

Section 6.  The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause or 
phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it 
would have passed all portions of this ordinance independent of the elimination of any such portion as 
may be declared invalid. 

Section 7.  The enactment of this Ordinance shall not affect any case, proceeding, appeal or other 
matter currently pending in any court or in any way modify any right or liability, civil or criminal, which 
may be in existence on the effective date of this Ordinance. 

Section 8.  It is expressly the purpose of this Ordinance to provide for and promote the health, safety 
and welfare of the general public and not to create or otherwise establish or designate any particular 
class or group of persons who will or should be especially protected or benefited by the terms of this 
Ordinance.  It is the specific intent of this Ordinance that no provision or any term used in this Ordinance 
is intended to impose any duty whatsoever upon the City or any of its officers or employees.  Nothing 
contained in this Ordinance is intended nor shall be construed to create or form the basis of any liability 
on the part of the City, or its officers, employees or agents, for any injury or damage resulting from any 
action or inaction on the part of the City related in any manner to the enforcement of this Ordinance by 
its officers, employees or agents.   

 

     

      
Cassie Franklin, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
      
City Clerk 
 
PASSED:      

VALID:       

PUBLISHED:      

EFFECTIVE DATE:     



City of Everett
2025 Proposed

Budget Amendment #3

September 3, 2025



2025 Proposed Budget Amendment #3

Expenditure Increase to Revenue

General Government Proposed Amendments 671,767                 287,717                     

Non-General Government Proposed Amendments 32,194,474            46,613,964                

Total 32,866,241$          46,901,681$              



General Government 
Proposed Amendments

Department Purpose Expenditure
Increase to 

Revenue
Emergency 
Management

Department of Ecology Grant 25,432$            25,432$             

Multiple Workforce Adjustments 197,285            97,285                

Non‐Departmental 5,324,000         700,000             

Multiple (5,324,000)        (700,000)            

Distribution of Vacancy Budget 
Offset



General Government 
Proposed Amendments

Department Purpose Expenditure
Increase to 

Revenue

Library Internet Utilities 5,650$              -$                    

Legal Indigent Defense Grant 165,000            165,000             

Non‐Departmental
Interfund Transfer for Reservoir 
#3 Site Cleanup

278,400            



Non-General Government 
Proposed Amendments

Department Purpose Expenditure
Increase to 

Revenue

CIP-1
General Government Capital 
Projects

277,000$          -$                    

Emergency Medical 
Services

Fire Training Center Project 
Design

200,000            

CIP-3 Parks Projects 2,375,159         

Multiple
2025 Limited Tax General 
Obligation Bonds, Series A

21,535,046       38,331,656        

Debt Service
2025 Limited Tax General 
Obligation Bonds, Series B

6,150,786         6,150,786          



Non-General Government 
Proposed Amendments

Department Purpose Expenditure
Increase to 

Revenue

CIP-4 Adjustment to Reserve Balances -$                  475,039$           

Fund for Animals
Animal Reserve Grants and 
Donations

115,903            115,903             

Cumulative Reserve 
for Library

Library Reserve Donation 5,000                5,000                  

Health Benefits 
Reserve

Health Benefits Cash Reserves 1,535,580         1,535,580          



DISCUSSION






	09032025Plus
	Everett Station OM-GA 0127-20 Amendment 1_CS
	Everett Station OM-GA 0127-20 Amendment 1_SD
	GA 0127-20 Amend 1 Everett Station OM
	GA 0127-20 Everett Station Operations Agreement_EXE

	Indigent Defense Appeal Services (RALJ) 25-27_tdb.8.25.25.CS
	Indigent Defense Appeal Services (RALJ) 25-27.tdb.8.25.2025_SD
	RES_J0161 2017 Ford F550_CS
	RES_J0161 2017 Ford F550_SD
	Councilmember introducing Resolution

	CB 2508-46 Riverpoint Outfall Replacement_Ordinance_GM_09.03.25_CS
	CB 2508-46 Riverpoint Outfall Replacement_Ordinance_GM_09.03.25_SD
	Section 5. The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it would have passed all portions of this ordin...

	CB 2508-47 2025 Budget Amendment No.3_CS
	CB 2508-47 2025 Budget Amendment No.3_SD2
	CB 2508-47 2025 Budget Amendment No.3_ORD
	Section 3.  The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it would have passed all portions of this ordin...

	2025 Budget Amendment No.3_SD1.pdf
	Tally

	PGSF_Project Labor Agreement_RS_SD
	Port Garnder Storage Facility PLA Final for signature.pdf
	Binder2.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	Port Gardner Storage Facility PLA Final 20250611.pdf
	COE - Pilot PLA - LOA.pdf

	COE - Pilot PLA - Pre-Job Packet.pdf
	COE - Pilot PLA - Core Workers.pdf
	WSCCA - Pre - Job Paperwork.pdf
	Core Employee
	Contractor(s) or Sub Contractor(s) employing Core Employees must complete the following documentation.  
	Core Employee(s) must place their names with the respective Union Hall dispatch prior to the employee(s) start of work.
	Core employee information provided by
	Email Address
	Core employee information verified by
	Core Employee #1
	Hire Date:
	Employee Name:
	Classification:
	No
	Yes
	The employee has met the qualifications contained in the CWA/PLA
	Core Employee #2
	Hire Date:
	Employee Name:
	Classification:
	No
	Yes
	The employee has met the qualifications contained in the CWA/PLA
	Core Employee #3
	Hire Date:
	Employee Name:
	Classification:
	No
	Yes
	The employee has met the qualifications contained in the CWA/PLA
	Core Employee #4 (if eligible)
	Hire Date:
	Employee Name:
	Classification:
	Apprentice ID#
	Zip Code:
	No
	Yes
	The employee has met the qualifications contained in the CWA/PLA
	Core Employee #5 (if eligible)
	Hire Date:
	Employee Name:
	Classification:
	Apprentice ID#
	Zip Code:
	No
	Yes
	The employee has met the qualifications contained in the CWA/PLA




	COE - Pilot PLA - FTA.pdf

	Port Gardner Storage Facility PLA Exhibit 3.pdf

	2025-2026 RSO ILA_City of Everett_9-3-2025_CS
	2025-2026 RSO ILA_City of Everett_9-3-2025
	Municipal Court Access Control Installation Project Funding Ordinance_CS
	Municipal Court Access Control Installation Project Funding Ordinance_SD
	Section 3.  Authorization is hereby granted to the Parks and Facilities Director, under the direction of the Mayor, to assume full and complete responsibility for conducting all tasks and all necessary steps to accomplish the actions authorized in thi...
	Section 5.  The City Clerk and the codifiers of this Ordinance are authorized to make necessary corrections to this Ordinance including, but not limited to, the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, references, ordinance numbering, section/subsec...
	Section 6.  The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it would have passed all portions of this ordin...
	Section 7.  The enactment of this Ordinance shall not affect any case, proceeding, appeal or other matter currently pending in any court or in any way modify any right or liability, civil or criminal, which may be in existence on the effective date of...


	2025 Budget Amendment #3
	City of Everett�2025 Proposed�Budget Amendment #3�
	2025 Proposed Budget Amendment #3
	General Government �Proposed Amendments
	General Government �Proposed Amendments
	Non-General Government �Proposed Amendments
	Non-General Government �Proposed Amendments
	discussion

	9.4.25 In Person

	provided by: 
	email address: 
	verified by: 
	Core 1 Employee Name: 
	Core 1 Hire Date: 
	Core 1Classification: 
	core1: Yes
	Core 2 Employee Name: 
	Core 2 Hire Date: 
	Core 2 Classification: 
	core2: No
	Core 3 Employee Name: 
	core 3 Hire Date: 
	Core 3 Classification: 
	core3: No
	Core 4 Employee Name: 
	Core 4 Hire Date: 
	Core 4 Apprentice ID: 
	Core 4 Classification: 
	Core 4 Zip Code: 
	core4: No
	Core 5 Employee Name: 
	Core 5 Hire Date: 
	Core 5 Apprentice ID: 
	Core 5 Classification: 
	Core 5 Zip Code: 
	core5: No
	Signature_es_:signer:signatureblock: 
	signer:fullname: 
	Date completed: 


